
Our year
The PSS Annual Report 2016-2017

The highs and the lows



Our Year 2016-2017 

PSS Annual Report 2016 - 20172

Contents
Our Administrative information 3

Our Chair’s Statement: Our Year 2016/17 4

Report of the Trustees: 6
- Our governance 7
- A new year, a new plan 8
- Understanding our value (s) 9
- Our everyday, a snapshot 10
- How are we doing? 14
- The who: our incredible team 24
- Our performance in 2016-2017 26
- Risk management 30
- Giving back 31
- So what’s next? Our plans for 17/18 32
- Thanks to staff 34

Trustees’ responsibilities 36

Independent Auditor’s Report 37

Statement of Financial Activities 38

Balance Sheet at 31st March 2017 39

Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31st March 2017 40

Notes to the Financial Statement 41

Investment Powers
and Authority 
The Articles of Association place no restrictions 
on the amount or type of investments made 
by the company. However, PSS complies with 
the restrictions placed upon it by law.  
PSS is a registered charity and, as such, its 
charitable activities are not liable to Income 
Tax or Corporation Tax.  
The current active membership of PSS is 35.  
The Trustees of the charity derive no benefit, 
income or capital interest from PSS (UK) 
(“PSS”) except for related party transactions 

(note 12). 
 

PSS Charitable Objects 
as declared in our 
Articles of Association 
The advancement of education, the 
advancement of health, the relief of poverty 
and the advancement of such other charitable 
purposes for the benefit of the community in 
such manner as the Trustees shall from time 
to time think fit and in particular (but without 
prejudice to the generality of the foregoing) 
by assisting individuals in need to live and / or 

manage their needs more independently.  
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Some highs
and some lows 

There has been a lot of negative national 
press coverage around certain charities in 
the last couple of years. Although we have 
been confident that our own governance 
is strong at both our organisation’s Board 
and leadership levels, we have been 
working hard in the past year to ensure 
that we can learn all the lessons there are 
to be learned from the reported issues and 
failings of these other charities. 

We are proud of and can be transparent about how our 
organisation operates: we plan for the future; we have 
measureable targets and KPIs which we test ourselves 
against; and we have an internal audit programme to 
test our own systems, procedures and management on a 
continual basis. None of this means we can rest easy, but 
we hope it will continue to provide comfort for our various 
stakeholders and friends.

As this report will tell you, 2016-2017 was all about 
being assured of those solid foundations and focusing on 
starting the building work of our new plan. 

Accompanied by a set of refreshed values and some very 
significant work about understanding and recognising 
the impact of our various services, we feel that PSS is 
in a strong position to cope with the increasingly harsh 
realities of the world we live in – both in terms of our 
financial strength and our ability to meet the needs of our 
service-users now and in the future. 

Since March 2016 we’ve had some great new contract 
wins, including the return of Wirral Shared Lives to our 
North West team and the introduction of Seedlings 
(a therapeutic service for children) for our Promoting 
Wellbeing portfolio. But it has not all been good news. We 
were unfortunately unsuccessful in bidding to continue 
proving the Sefton Palliative Care and Liverpool Health 
Trainer services, both of which we were really disappointed 
about. 

At PSS, we are always looking to find ways to meet need 
where it has previously been unmet. The introduction 
of our Homeshare scheme is a great example. In 2016-
2017, we formally commenced the delivery of Homeshare 
in Knowsley, looking to pair younger people in need of 
housing with older people who are home-owners and 
may be in need of some help around the house. The 
idea is that the younger person and older person share a 
home and benefit from each other’s company, skills and 
experience; the younger person gets a roof over their head 
and the older person benefits from having someone live 
with them. 

Our Chair’s Statement 
Our Year: 2016 - 2017
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We have a focus on ensuring that the organisation is truly 
innovative across the spectrum of its services, something 
its founders would be proud to see.

We’ve had great recognition of the quality of our work 
through regulatory inspections and external awards across 
three services. In addition our internal quality process has 
been audited independently to give us reassurance that 
we’re keeping a close eye on all services along the way. 
In December we held our first PSS ‘Big Awards’ event 
focusing on the great work of our many teams. I was very 
proud to hand out the Team of the Year prize to the team 
at our Wellbeing Centres.

Another key focus of the year has been on increasing the 
number of other organisations we are working with. As 
the pressures of austerity continue to tighten, working 
together is an ever more important and looking at 
how this can be done innovatively to make the best of 
resource, expertise and flexibility is really exciting for PSS. 
Over the past 12 months people at all levels of PSS have 
been finding new ways to collaborate and work with like-
minded organisations with similar values. 

It’s the people who work for PSS that make it the great 
organisation it is, and I’d like to thank all of our team 
members for not only striving to provide the highest 
standard of service, but also for embodying the five PSS 
values in all they do – operating genuinely, with big-
hearts, open-minds, professionalism and determination – 
even in the face of change and adversity.

Over the course of the year, we have welcomed new 
people and said goodbye to others, and at Board level 
we’ve completed our own recruitment drive. We have 
recruited Julie Cooke, our new Trustee from the criminal 
justice sector, and we’re also looking for a few more 
additions: we’re looking for a trustee who can bring 
‘expertise by experience’ to the Board and we would also 
like to find an entrepreneurial Trustee with operational 
expertise. Our existing Trustees have continued to add a 
lot of value and expertise to help steer PSS the right way 
and they continue to find huge interest and satisfaction 
from their involvement in such a fabulous organisation. 
I am hugely grateful to them for their time, energy and 
intuition.

So, it has been a hard year, with many highs and many 
lows. We’ve had more of the highs than the lows, 
thankfully, and we remain strong and ready to help those 
who need it. We have our team to thank for that.

Mark Rathbone, PSS Chair
PSS (UK) Ltd 
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Report of the Trustees 
Our Year: 2016 - 2017

Our governance 
PSS was formed in 1919, is a company 
limited by guarantee (incorporated in 
1926) and registered as a charity in 1963. 
The company was established under 
a Memorandum of Association which 
established the objects and powers of the 
charitable company and is governed under 
its Articles of Association. 

Membership is open to anyone (subject to the approval 
of the Board of Trustees) who wishes to support PSS. 
The members of PSS elect a Board of Trustees (‘the 
Board’) from the membership.  Those members elected 
as Trustees also constitute the directors of the company.  
The Board is required to include a Chair, Vice Chair and an 
Honorary Treasurer. Trustees are elected for a term of up 
to three years, but may be re-elected. 

In addition to the Annual General Meeting, the Board 
meets four times a year. It has four subcommittees.  The 
Audit and Governance Sub-committee and Finance and 
Performance subcommittee which meet quarterly, the 
Innovation Sub-committee which meets twice a year 
and the Remuneration Sub-committee which meets once 
a year. The sub-committees exist to provide a level of 
scrutiny to the work of PSS, for example in relation to the 
accounts or risk management or internal audit.  
Each committee reports to the full Board. 

Trustee recruitment  
Trustees are recruited through an open recruitment 
process. The Board seeks new members who have the skills 
and expertise to complement those already possessed by 
the Board, and who have an understanding of the issues 
affecting the people and communities PSS supports.  
Trustees are elected by the Members at the Annual 
General Meeting but can be co-opted by the Board, 
pending election, in the intervening period. On appointment 
new Trustees are inducted into the work of PSS and 
their role as Trustee; this involves clarifying roles and 
responsibilities; the work of the Board and the sub-
committees; a required number of visits to services; and 
further specific training as agreed to meet development 
needs, for example, ‘Safeguarding for Trustees’. 
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Trustee performance  
The Chair meets with individual Trustees on an annual 
basis to discuss their contribution to the Board and to 
the organisation as a whole.  The Board also conducts a 
review of its own performance and also on the skills and 
expertise on a biennial basis. 

Presentations about different aspects of the work of 
PSS and service visits for Trustees are arranged on a 
regular basis and Trustees are expected to visit services 
individually throughout the year. Trustees are also 
expected to regularly attend Board and sub-committee 
meetings.  These elements of Trustee performance are 
measured in PSS’s KPIs.  

Delegation of authority  
The Board of Trustees appoint the Chief Executive 
who is responsible to the Board for the operation and 
development of PSS and for implementing the strategic 
objectives set by the Trustees.  The Leadership Team, 
comprising the heads of the major functions of PSS, are 
appointed with support from the Trustees. The Trustees 
further delegate their responsibilities through the use of 
a comprehensive and structured ‘delegation of authority’ 
framework. The Board receive a comprehensive suite of 
papers about the operational status and development of 
PSS for their deliberations in advance of meetings. 
A well-developed risk management process further 
protects the activities of PSS.  The register of risks and 
controls is closely scrutinised by the Audit and Governance 
Sub-committee before being submitted to the Board for 
their full review and input. These reviews further feed 
in to the charity’s business plans. The Board are further 
involved appropriately in decision-making regarding 
collaborations with other charities or organisations. 

Trustees’ Statement
on Public Benefit   
PSS (UK)’s vision is to influence health, social care and 
community services both locally and nationally, through 
innovative approaches that make a real difference to 
people’s lives. It does this by carrying out activities that 
identify those in need and create innovative service 
solutions.  PSS’s Trustees therefore confirm that they have 
complied with the duty in Section 17 of the Charities Act 
2011 to have due regard to the public benefit guidance 
published by the Charity Commission in determining the 
activities undertaken by the charity.  

Pay and remuneration   
At PSS we are committed to accountability and 
transparency in the charity sector, but we believe that 
personal privacy is also an important factor when it comes 
to what we share.  
All executive pay is determined by our Remuneration 
Committee which operates as part of our Audit and 
Governance Board Sub-committee. The Trustees who 
make up this group are responsible for ensuring a fair pay 
structure across PSS’s executive team that recognises:  

•  Individual and team performance in the context of a 
challenging climate.  

•  The importance of recruiting and retaining the ‘right’ 
people (both in terms of experience and attitude).

•  Fair pay that reflects the level of knowledge, skills 
and experience required and the responsibilities and 
accountabilities associated with the position.  

•  Pay levels that are benchmarked against comparable 
jobs locally and in the sector. 

•  Benefits to executive staff are in-line with benefits 
available to all staff.  
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Our Year: 2016 - 2017

A new year,
a new plan

The end of the 2015-2016 financial year 
brought with it the end of our five-year 
strategic plan and the lead into the launch 
of something new and refreshed. 

When we started to look at our planning for 2016 
onwards, we knew we wanted to do three things; continue 
in the direction we had been travelling, increase the pace 
at which we moved forward and continue to develop 
our culture. Our culture is the thing that makes PSS 
unapologetically different; it ensures we do what’s right, in 
the right way, at the right time. 

So in summer 2015, we started the big job of refreshing 
our strategic plan. We knew at this point that we needed 
to evaluate the previous plan – find out what worked for 
people, which bits of the plan they thought were most 
important, and what people thought had been missed out. 
We also needed to understand the pros and cons of how it 
had been cascaded and communicated throughout PSS. 

We wanted an independent person to run the feedback 
sessions, so our teams could be honest about what they 
thought of the plan that the Leadership Team had been 
driving forward in the previous period. Through informal 
chats and some great pieces of work during her placement 
with us, we picked up that Amy Lonton (one of our social 
work students from Liverpool Hope University) had 
delivered a range of consultation groups before starting 
her Master’s degree. She was perfect for the job. 

Over the course of the next few months Amy’s project 
went really well - we got honesty, ideas and most 
importantly a lot of engagement. The framework for 
our plan was developed, its key principles were formed 
and its content was fine-tuned with a smaller, focused 
group of individuals. What was vital with the plan was 
that it worked for anyone in PSS at whatever level they 
worked, whatever their skills, expertise and experience. The 
language needed to be simple, so the first thing we did 
was remove the word ‘strategic’ and replace it with the 
word ‘big’.

Report of the Trustees 

So, the Big Plan 2016-2019 was born, a plan that 
would take us towards our 100th year, making as 
big an impact as we possibly might, across five key 
themes:

What we do is of the highest quality 
and changes lives for the better

We can see where there is a need 
to change and where we can we do 
something about it

People who use our services drive 
what we do

Our whole team signs up to a 
positive and proactive culture

We’re going to be around 
for future generations

1

2

3

4

5

Open-minded

Big-hearted
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Understanding
our value (s)

We had a solid and simple Big Plan ready 
to go on 1st April 2016, ready to keep 
everyone on track and moving in the same 
direction. 

We’d looked at where we were going, we’d looked at why 
we were going there, we’d looked at what we were doing 
and we looked at how we might get to our destination. 
However, one thing stood out as needing to be pulled into 
this new focus; our values.

We want our values to be the writing on our stick of 
Blackpool rock – running through the centre of everything 
we do. We first put our values on paper back in 2009, 
which, after 90 years of PSS history, was no mean feat. 

However, one thing we had picked up in 2015 was that 
our six values had three issues. 

•  First, they were long and hard to remember. 

•  Second, the way they’d been worded meant they only 
really focused on how we deliver services. Of course, 
delivering our services well is vital, but values are actually 
about more than that - they’re about everything we 
do as an organisation and every decision we make. Our 
values needed to be easy to transfer to any role in the 
organisation and, unless you were out delivering our 
services, we weren’t sure this was the case. 

•  Last and by no means least, we felt we’d discovered 
even more things that make PSS special and therefore 
felt some holes existed in what we had at the time. 

As you might have already picked up - getting our staff 
involved in making decisions is really important to us, so 
like we did with the Big Plan, we brought a team together. 
In fact, as they’d made such a great contribution to the 
Big Plan and had so many varied and interesting ideas, 
we invited the same team to participate – led, again, by 
Amy. Amy used the same process used in identifying our 
Big Plan priorities to understand the values of the people 
in the group. The group looked at which values were 
important in their roles and which ones they shared with 
one another and with their colleagues.

The end result? Five simple words to represent our values 
and a list of ways we demonstrate them. 

As of 2016, our new PSS values are:

Open-minded Determined
Genuine

Big-hearted Professional
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Our Year: 2016 - 2017

Report of the Trustees 
Wales and the Midlands, via three funders: Liverpool’s 
Joint Commissioning Team, the Welsh Intermediate 
Care Fund and Shared Lives Plus in Birmingham. 

•  Publishing our first Social Impact Reports for Shared 
Lives and TRIO and Supporting Independent Living 
which look at the fantastic achievements made by 
these services. The reports includes information on the 
people we work with, the pathway they follow when 
they come to the service, the outcomes we support 
people to achieve (including case studies) and what 
our service-users think about the service. They outline 
some cost-benefit analysis information, looking at the 
value of our services when compared with other, costlier 
forms of care.

•  Recognising the work of our teams. In particular Pam 
Doyle, our Head of Homes and Communities, was a 
finalist in the Leadership Award category at the Powerful 
Together Awards 2016, recognising her fantastic work 
in taking the services she looks after to a new level, and 
guiding her team to take a lot of pride in what they 
do. We also had great success at the Wrexham Social 
Enterprise Awards, when our small but mighty Welsh 
team won the Health and Social Care Award. This was 
presented for their all-round wonderful work on Shared 
Lives Wales, their innovative TRIO model, engagement 
with service-users and the impact they have made on 
the lives of people across Wrexham and North Wales.

•  Influencing at the highest levels, particularly when it 
comes to our core services such as Shared Lives. This 
year we’ve done this in style with Becky Bloor-Steen, our 
Head of Service in Wales, leading in her role as Chair of 
Shared Lives Plus’s panel and the Welsh Shared Lives 
team’s visit to talk about the model at the Senedd. In 
England, the team from the Midlands joined Becky to 
talk about the model at a UK Parliament event. 

Our everyday, 
a snapshot 

Now you know the bigger picture stuff, 
let’s get down to the detail. Across our four 
portfolios of work we’ve had a really busy 
year; new pilot projects, new places for 
delivery, a few awards thrown in and; of 
course, some challenges. In this section, we 
aim to give you a brief overview of the key 
highs and lows across each area of work.

Finding a secure place to live: 
Creating Homes
   The highs:

•  Winning the contract for the delivery of Shared Lives 
Wirral. After the huge disappointment of losing this 
contract in 2014 and two years staying on one side of 
the Mersey, our whole team were delighted to regain 
this piece of work and expand our North West Shared 
Lives delivery further. 

•  Delivering three ‘Shared Lives: Home from Hospital’ 
pilots, designed to help those who are ready to leave 
hospital, but are not feeling ready to go back to their 
own homes. This service supports people to regain their 
confidence and get back on their feet again, staying 
with a Shared Lives carer. The overall aim is to reduce 
bed-blocking across the UK’s hospitals and stop people 
being placed in unnecessary residential placements. 
During the course of the year, this pilot has been 
delivered across three regions – the North West, North 
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   The lows:

•  Dealing with cuts, cuts and more cuts. Austerity has 
tightened its grip this year, and like most social care 
providers we’ve felt the impact of the National Living 
Wage in this area. Of course we are hugely supportive of 
the increases in the National Living Wage, in fact what 
we really want is to pay the Real Living Wage in all our 
services. However our Supported Living service is one of 
the few that doesn’t allow us to do this. Unfortunately 
the Councils we’re working with on these services have 
had to tighten rates again, and have not been able to 
match the increase in the National Living Wage in their 
fee increase. Therefore, we’ve done some work over 
the last 12 months to share a joint message with these 
local authorities, and in January 2017, this resulted in 
an Economist Magazine feature on the issue. 

Making the most of every day: 
Empowering Communities 

   The highs:

•  Creating more diversity in the activities we offer at our 
Making Days services was a key objective since we took 
over the service, and particularly in the last financial 
year. In summer 2016, we brought the spirit of the 
Olympics and Paralympics, which were being held in 
Brazil at the time, to our Making Days North service with 
the Making Days North Mini-Olympics. From walking 
football and the egg and spoon race (a particular 
highlight), to a new sporting event called ‘the welly 
throw’, the Mini-Olympics were all-inclusive and there 
was something for everyone to take part in. 

•  Enhancing what we have to offer at our Dutch Farm 
service. Located in South Liverpool this outdoor 
service has taken on a life of its own in the past year, 
offering an ever-increasing number of service-users the 
opportunity to learn gardening skills and grow their own 
fruit and vegetables. It is also keeping the people of 
Head Office in good supply of potting plants and their 
five-a-day. 

•  Developing an ‘Elderly Mental Health’ pilot around our 
Shared Lives dementia day services in North Wales. This 
was incredibly successful and we are talking to the  in 
question about making this a permanent feature.  

•  Introducing a new manager to our Community Support 
services, someone from outside the field who had the 
creativity and ambition to reinvigorate this service. The 
early signs are looking good and we believe the best is 
ahead as we look at how our day services work together. 

   The lows:

•  Letting go of our Fusion Centre. This service offered 
day support for older people and had been delivered 
by PSS for many years. The decision to walk away from 
this contract related to challenges around sustainable 
funding and our concerns about being able to deliver a 
quality service for the money available. 

•  Managing the cuts (the previously mentioned National 
Living Wage challenge came into this area too). 
Unfortunately, our Community Support service and 
Making Days day centres are all part of the same 
contract, one which is having to work within the huge 
cuts received by many social care departments.
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Our Year: 2016 - 2017

Report of the Trustees 
Living healthier lives: 
Promoting Wellbeing
   The highs:

•  Promoting our Digital Health Services including Mi and 
our Digital Flo Health Trainers who had another really 
successful year. The latter (a community based digital 
blood pressure monitoring service) has been used as a 
local and national model of best practice. 

•  Winning the contract to deliver Liverpool’s ‘Seedlings’ 
service with YPAS (the Young People’s Advisory Service)
This service is designed to support children and young 
people to improve their emotional and mental health 
and is delivered in schools across Liverpool. 

•  Creativity in Yorkshire where our Be Well service 
continued to offer even more diversity in wellbeing 
programmes and courses. This year we’ve welcomed 
Fit Stix (the new fitness craze from the USA), Read 2 
Paws (a literacy wellbeing project where children read 
to animals) and Fit Farm (a school holidays programme 
focused on ‘growing your own’). In addition to this 
we’ve also launched our new website which has had 
incredible feedback on Facebook. This website was 
designed with a professional agency from Leeds 
alongside service-users, staff and health champions 
from our Barnsley team. 

•  Record-setting. Well, sort of… the Be Well Barnsley 
team also attempted (and only just failed) to achieve 
a Guinness World Record for the number of people 
completing a chair-based exercise class. Unfortunately 
a team in China just happened to have a go at this the 
week before – but you can’t say we didn’t try. 

•  Publishing two more ‘first-time’ Impact Reports in the 
Wellbeing area of work. One for our Liverpool Health 
Trainers and another for our Parent and Baby Wellness 
service. Again these have been received fantastically 
and have created a real buzz amongst other services to 
have their own!

•  Recognising our Wellbeing Centres. Last but by no 
means least this service and its staff who support 
people with mild to moderate mental health needs, 
including anxiety and depression, won the PSS Team 
of the Year Award and the Quality Team of the Year 
Award. These were really well-deserved awards for a 
team who’ve achieved in many areas over the last year, 
keeping up morale in a time of unsure funding, adding 
diversity to our programmes of support from the ideas 
of people who use our services and getting involved in 
local projects that give people with mental health needs 
a louder voice. 

   The lows:

Unfortunately 2016-2017 was a sad year in our Promoting 
Wellbeing portfolio with the loss of two services. 

•  Saying goodbye to our Palliative Care Service, which 
had been delivered in Sefton for many years, offering 
support to individuals and families at the end of Life. 
Unfortunately, tightening funding meant this service 
couldn’t be continued by the commissioner for 2017-
2018.

•  Losing the Liverpool Health Trainers was probably the 
hardest part of the year. A team who were PSS through 
and through moved on to a redesigned service in 
March, at the end of a long and intense tender process. 
All of PSS wished the team the best of luck as they 
move onto a new, albeit different service and we hope 
they continue with their fabulous local reputation, 
keeping that twinkle that has always made this service 
so special.  
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Staying strong together: 
Strengthening Families
   The highs:

•  Getting our Homeshare service (funded by the Big 
Lottery and Lloyds TSB Foundation) moving. This service 
is a partner project with the Knowsley Housing Trust and 
was one of only five projects to gain national funding in 
2015. The challenges around launching a Homeshare 
service have been felt by all in the pilot programme 
but the team at the Lottery have so far been delighted 
with the progress of the team and their ability to 
raise awareness amongst potential ‘homesharers’ 
and commissioners across the Knowsley borough. 
The service differs considerably from other forms of 
Homeshare where an older person hosts a young 
person in their own home in exchange for support with 
their everyday needs (not including personal care). 
However the KHT/PSS version is quite different in that 
the younger person being placed is either a care leaver, 
NEETS (not in employment, education or training) or 
in another needs group that makes them vulnerable. 
Our service focuses on young people who want a 
career in social care and our partnership with Knowsley 
Community College means we can match a young 
person on a social care college course into a Homeshare 
placement as a vocational element of their course. 
This of course also brings benefits to the older person 
as they have company and support but they also feel 
they are ‘giving something back’ by helping a younger 
person in their career progression.

•  Celebrating awards for our Sefton Young Carers’ with 
‘Celebrating awards for our Sefton Young Carers 
service, who wonthe Eleanor Rathbone Award for their 
hard work as a team and who support young carer, 
Patrick, to receive a personal award for his fundraising 
activities.

•  Proving we can do it in our Independent Supporters 

Service. Independent Supporters is a joint project with 
Barnardo’s and the Together Trust and our our first 
‘payment by results’ service, which was recommissioned 
for another year. Sarah Dewick, our Service Manager, 
won our PSS Determined Award in 2016 in recognition 
of this.

•  A real high for our Family Impact team was having the 
work of our Prisoners’ Families service highlighted in 
BBC One’s Panorama documentary, ‘Prison, My Parent 
and Me’, in November. The documentary gave the 
nation a rare window into the worlds of the children we 
work with, and featured expert insight from Dr Lorna 
Brookes, who oversees our service.

•  Publishing two more Impact Reports in this portfolio area 
for Turnaround and Preventing Domestic Violence (Ruby). 
The former has been welcomed with open arms by our 
commissioners Purple Futures and their parent company 
Interserve. The Ruby Impact Report has helped us to 
build our offer around this service for two new contracts 
in Merseyside which will hopefully appear in 2017. 

•  Enjoying being awarded the ‘Northern Enterprise 
Award’ for innovation with Ruby at a conference and 
awards ceremony in Manchester. 

•  Redecorating the visitor’s centre at HMP Altcourse 
with a team of young people from the Princes Trust in 
February. It’s needed a spruce-up for a little while and it 
was great to get an energetic team there to transform 
it. All the colour schemes and designs were chosen by 
our service-users and even if we say so ourselves… it 
looks great!

   The lows:

•  Feeling a really strong tightening in funding in many of 
our services in this area. This has meant we’ve had to 
think differently about how we deliver and make further 
efficiencies wherever we can. We know that this is a sign 
of the times and our Strengthening Families team have 
done some great work with our commissioners to look 
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Our Year: 2016 - 2017

Report of the Trustees 
•  We’ve started early discussions with other care providers 

in Liverpool around ideas for the council’s Pioneer Fund. 
This fund has been created from the additional monies 
central Government has awarded to local authorities to 
reduce demand around adult social care. 

•  Working alongside KHT, we have agreed with the Big 
Lottery for our Homeshare service pilot to be extended 
for another six months. We are working with KHT to 
look at extensions of this model that could be used to 
address the changes to Housing Benefit coming up in 
2018. 

Bolt-on innovation in existing work
•  We are working with a Liverpool-based web agency to 

look at ways in which can enhance and promote Shared 
Lives digitally. 

•  As ever, our Be Well Barnsley service are flying with their 
innovation with a new website launch, a new social 
marketing plan to engage with GPs and a whole host of 
new fitness groups including ‘K9KeepFit’ and ‘Golfit’. 

Service redesign
•  The funding pressures around Supported Living mean 

we need to innovate and change our structure so we 
can do more within a limited budget. We have engaged 
an independent consultant who is going to help us look 
at the format, location and pricing structures of our 
supported living offer. 

•  Home from Hospital pilots for Shared Lives are currently 
being delivered in Liverpool, Conwy and Birmingham. 

How are
we doing? 
We can see where there is a 
need to change and where we 
can we do something about it
Over the last 12 months we have seen a number of new 
projects take shape, something that reassures us that 
innovation is truly embedded in PSS. These projects fit into 
four themes:

•  Innovation in brand new work
•  Bolt-on innovation in existing work
•  Service redesign
•  Internal innovation

Innovation in new work 
•  We’ve submitted bids for new pieces of work with a 

range of partners, including working with much bigger 
organisations (including NHS Trusts) to help them to 
identify challenges and opportunities for third sector 
involvement in their core contracts. 

•  We became a partner of the Liverpool Enterprise Hub. 
Run by the Women’s Organisation with European money 
this project aims to promote entrepreneurship and 
enterprise across the city. Our role is to promote the 
support the Enterprise Hub can offer to people across 
the city who may need additional support. This might 
include people with disabilities, mental health problems, 
offending histories or people whose first language isn’t 
English. 
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Internal innovation
•  Towards the end of 2016-2017 we were in the early 

stages of looking at new buildings for the PSS Head 
Office. What we’ll be looking for is something that 
reflects our personality with the space to enhance 
creativity. 

•  The PSS recruitment processes are undergoing an 
overhaul and we will now be utilising text tracking of 
applications, unique localised ‘welcome cards’ and 
a new starter ‘buddying system’ for new PSS people. 
The creativity also extends to allowing people to send 
in personal statements for their application via video, 
more role play in interview for support workers and the 
complete rewriting of documentation that forms the 
recruitment process. 

•  The new PSS IT Strategy was signed off by the Board 
in March 2017. This will now help us introduce a new 
Client Management System which integrates with a 
number of other key systems. Our Midlands services 
have embraced this idea of going digital and have 
already moved across to become fully paperless. 

•  As you’ll have picked up, impact reporting is now a 
fabulous and integral part of how we are telling the 
stories of our services. Although it’s not innovative in 
the sense we’re the only ones doing it, we are taking a 
different approach and these reports are being very well 
received. 

•  Finally the new Innovation Strategy has been written 
and will be taken to the May Innovation Sub-committee 
for approval. This strategy will take us up to April 2019.
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Our Year: 2016 - 2017

Report of the Trustees 

If we want to stand out as a provider who makes a real 
difference (and we do) we know it’s vital that we have the 
right people with the right attitude on board. By focusing 
on recruiting people with the right approach and values 
we can put all our focus into the job of training and 
developing them to be the best they can be in their role. 
Positivity and proactivity are vital to several areas of our 
work, and this year we’ve been beavering away on:

•  What we offer and how we approach learning 
and engagement

•  Listening to what our staff have to tell us

•  Embedding our values

•  Rewarding and recognising good practice

Our whole team signs up to a 
positive and proactive culture

“I have found the response to the 
new contract management process 
has been received positively and 
with a ‘can-do’ attitude. I feel that 
we work in collaboration and that 
is important to me and ultimately 
benefits both service-users and 
stakeholders.” 
PSS commissioner

Learning and engagement
As part of our commitment to further develop the PSS 
culture we have appointed Emma Titley to the post of 
Head of Learning and Engagement.  Emma has made 
an excellent start and brings a wealth of experience 
from her previous role as Organisational Development 
Manager with Carlisle City Council.  A draft Learning and 
Development Policy and a Staff Engagement Strategy 
and action plan was agreed by the Leadership Team for 
consideration in mid-November and we’re now starting to 
see its impact. 

A priority area for this period was manager development 
and our first ‘Leadership Narada’ was held at the end of 
September.  Narada is a Polish word meaning ’a gathering 
of people to discuss an issue and agree actions’ and 
with a Polish member of the learning and engagement 
team helping with the thinking, this seemed a highly 
appropriate name.  The event was externally facilitated 
and focused on what leadership means to us in PSS.  In 
March this event was followed up with a ‘Communications 
Narada’ which focused on internal and external 
communications, brand and profile.  We will now run these 
events twice a year and see them as an important tool for 
the development of a consistent approach to leadership 
across PSS. They also provide a great opportunity for our 
managers to get together, have a natter and find out what 
else is going on across the organisation. 
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Listening to what our staff have 
to tell us
In 2016, 65% of our staff team responded to the staff 
survey. This is the highest rate for the last five years.  
The survey helped us to identify what’s working well but 
also some key issues that we will be focusing on going 
forwards. Future challenges that we need to focus on 
include:

•  Ensuring staff beyond our Liverpool Head Office all 
feel part of PSS

•  Ensuring all staff feel valued whatever their job role 
in PSS

•  Ensuring we work hard to achieve the best price for our 
work so we can pay the highest wages we can

Our Net Promoter Score is a mark out of ten that staff 
give when asked the question ‘how likely would you be to 
recommend PSS as a place to work for a family member 
or friend?’. In total, 41.2% of our respondents gave one 
of the top two answers (nine or ten out of ten) and would 
be classed as our promoters. At the other end of the 
scale, 23.7% gave responses from one to six and would 
be classed as ‘detractors’ – giving us a net score of 17.6. 
Although not as strong as previous staff surveys, this rate 
is high for our sector and issues including concerns over 
job security and tightening of contracts clearly played 
their part in this feedback and were widely stated in the 
written responses to the question asking ‘why did you give 
this score? 

Embedding our values
Our new values were discussed at the start of this Annual 
Report and over the past year a lot of work on embedding the 
new values has gone on. We have seen key projects during the 
year around recruitment, communications and performance 
management paperwork and systems. The process of 
embedding values is an ongoing one and we will continue 
to complete focused pieces of work in the coming year.

Rewarding and recognising
good practice
Our first ‘Big Awards’ event took place in December 2016, 
an evening at the Bluecoat Centre in Liverpool where 
we recognised the PSS people who truly live our values. 
With over 50 nominations across nine award categories 
the competition was strong and the group who originally 
helped us rediscover our values chose the winners, 
alongside our Trustees who chose our Team of The Year.  
Our nine winners for 2016 are listed below: 

•  Quality Improvement of the Year Award: 
Making Days South

•  Quality Leadership Award: Becky Bloor-Steen

•  Quality Team of the Year: The Wellbeing Centres

•  Open-Minded: Kyle Lee

•  Genuine: Joanna Bedwell

•  Big-Hearted: Amelia Graham

•  Determined: Sarah Dewick

•  Professional: John McLean

•  Supporter of the Year: Jeanette Burke

•  Trustees’ Team of the Year: The Wellbeing 
Centres
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Our Year: 2016 - 2017

Report of the Trustees 
What we do is of the highest 
quality and changes lives for 
the better
If we’re going to make sure our services are ‘stand-
out’ and the best they can be we need to thoroughly 
understand where we are starting from. Key to this is 
having a solid process that helps us assess service quality 
from both a regulatory and impact point of view. 

In 2016, a refreshed version of our quality assurance 
framework was published, this document was revised to 
take account of our achievements and our learning over 
the past four years, as well as better reflecting what PSS is 
about and our values from 2016-2017 onwards.

Our internal service audit process
The Quality Review process in 2016 was a significant 
piece of work, spanning many months and resulting in 23 
detailed reports being completed for services across PSS, 
with a summary sheet outlining the headline findings and 
areas for improvements, along with the RAG for each of 
the services. Those who went above and beyond in terms 
of quality received either a Green Plus (or if they were at 
the top of the pile) an ‘Emerald’ award. 

The majority of services found the new process to be 
effective and useful, and a good way of enabling them to 
focus on key areas of delivery. Most services were happy 
with the feedback and felt it was valid, and we have 
already seen some positive improvements as a result of 
the reports that were returned to services. 

As with all processes, this is one that we are looking to 
improve as we go forward. Many services did exceptionally 
well in 2016 and had made good progress based on 
feedback from the previous year.

An audit of the audits
In June 2016, our internal auditors, Mazars, looked over 
our quality management processes in detail.  The outcome 
of the report was positive and ‘substantial assurance’ was 
achieved with only one housekeeping recommendation. 
This provided us with great reassurance that this process is 
as strong as we thought. 

In 2015 an event was held with staff from across PSS to 
discuss what went well with our quality audit process 
and what could be improved. Based on this feedback, a 
small working group was formed, and in 2016 a revised 
approach was tested and rolled out across the organisation. 

Surveying all of our key stakeholders
In 2016 for the first time, we completed surveys not 
only with our staff, but also with our Shared Lives Carers, 
service-users and commissioners. In the surveys we asked 
about quality and satisfaction, as well as the impact of the 
services that people received or provided. Again the results 
were highly positive and the majority of responses were 
incredibly motivating. 

As in the staff survey the Net Promoter Score was used to 
assess our service-user feedback. In this group we gained 
a score of 80 which is very high. The Net Promoter Score 
runs from -100 to +100 so we were really pleased with this 
outcome.  

“My support worker helped me with the 
questions because I didn’t fully understand 
them. She made the questions easier for me 
and explained them in a more simple term 
for me to understand.” 

PSS service-user
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Regulator inspections and local 
authority visits
In quarter two of this year, two of our regulated services 
received inspections.  Midlands Shared Lives had an 
announced inspection in August 2016 from the Care 
Quality Commission comprising a visit from the inspector, 
as well as an expert by experience contacting service-
users.  The service performed exceptionally well receiving 
a ‘good’ rating on each of the individual domains and 
retaining a ‘good’ rating overall.

Wales Shared Lives received an unannounced 
inspection from CSSIW in September 2016. Whilst 
CSSIW don’t provide ratings, there were no significant 
recommendations for Wales as a result of the inspection.  
The results of these inspections is highly positive and 
demonstrated that we continue to provide a high standard 
of care and support.

Liverpool Council completed two compliance visits to our 
regulated services in February 2017, inspecting Supported 
Living and Merseyside Shared Lives. The visits were 
announced and required detailed preparation by the team 
in advance to ensure that the relevant information was 
available.

Following the visit, Supported Living scored 112 out of 
119, a score of 94% and Merseyside Shared Lives received 
a score of 115.5 out of 119 – a compliance score of 97%, 
which is excellent.  

On 10th March 2017, Sefton Council made a site visit 
to evaluate compliance of the Sefton Young Carers 
service.  The council were highly positive about the work 
undertaken by the service and highly complimentary 
about the PSS policies and procedures which were 
described as very robust along with a request to use them 
as examples of best practice with other providers.

Understanding the impact of 
our services
As mentioned throughout this report our new Impact 
Reports have been a highlight of the year. As an 
organisation that seeks to change things for the better in 
society, we need to measure and quantify not only what 
we do, but also how many people we reach, how effective 
we are at what we do, and to place a value on services we 
deliver. Having the evidence to demonstrate our social 
impact is important to us for two reasons. Firstly, our 
commitment to quality means that in order to improve 
our services’ and service-users’ stories of change we need 
to understand what does and does not work. Good impact 
reporting will help us to tell these stories more clearly 
and to focus on achieving even more for those we are 
supporting. Secondly, we are motivated by legislative and 
regulatory requirements such as the Public Services (Social 
Value) Act 2012 which place a duty on organisations like 
ours to demonstrate how our services might improve the 
economic, social and environmental well-being of society.

Since March 2016 reports have been published in the 
following services: 

•  Independent Living (including Supported Living)
•  Women’s Turnaround
•  Ruby
•  Liverpool Health Trainers
•  Parent and Baby Wellness

The feedback from these reports has been phenomenal 
and all are available on our website. 
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Report of the Trustees 
People who use our services 
drive what we do
Over the last year co-production, service-user involvement 
and our objective to ensure the individuals using our 
services are driving our delivery has come to the fore. 
Whether that’s in internal service projects, interviews for 
central services or design for new systems. We believe that 
there are four pre-requisites to ensuring people drive what 
we do and we have spent the last year ensuring these are 
solid and in-shape. 

•  Ensuring our feedback systems are strong so we 
know what people think

•  Supporting the creation of effective environments 
for involvement

•  Sharing ideas and best practice across our 
organisation

•  Embedding this at every level we can, starting with 
the Board

Feedback systems
Planning commenced in quarter one for the service-user, 
supporter, commissioner and shared lives carer surveys 
including discussion with Senior Management Team and 
the Quality Reference Group.  These new surveys open 
up another formal mechanism for people to share their 
thoughts and ideas with us and further enhance the on 
and offline work we do around our ‘tell us’ campaign. 

We continue to work to broaden the range of mechanisms 
we can use to gain feedback from service-users, and our 
Quality Reference Group are developing methods and 
tools that will be more interactive and appropriate to 
difference client groups.  

Creating the right environment
In Summer 2016, a group of service-users from Shared 
Lives Merseyside came together to relaunch their group, 
Shared Voices, which helps to organise activities as well 
as let them discuss the issues that matter to them.  The 
participants have found it a great way to meet new people 
and discuss things of importance, as well as propose ideas 
for days out – including a trip to Shared Lives Wales’ 
‘Party in the Park’ over the summer.  The discussion topics 
range from volunteering opportunities, to local activities 
and events.  The group has even invited Merseyside Police 
to attend an event to discuss how to stay safe in the 
community and discuss different people’s experiences.  
This is a positive model that will be rolled out to the other 
schemes that don’t yet have a feedback group.
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Sharing ideas on what works
We are currently creating a toolkit to cover 
engagement approaches and ideas – this will enable 
staff to look at the best way to get feedback from 
people using our services and to involve them in 
designing what their service looks like.  The toolkit 
aims to provide practical advice – e.g. how to 
structure surveys, how to write the questions, how 
to analyse the results, how to conduct service-user 
meetings etc. It also draws together best practice 
from different sources, and will be a practical set of 
documents which will enable service managers to try 
new approaches and ideas.   



Experts by experience from the 
Board throughout 
Over the course of the last year two PSS 
Board members have moved on.  In terms of 
replacing these individuals the Trustees were 
are keen to recruit an ‘expert by experience’ 
to sit on the Board, providing the perspective 
of someone who has used services, someone 
who can really help us achieve this part of our 
plan. What we have always been sure of in this 
area is that we don’t want a tokenistic role on 
the Board for someone who’s used services, 
but we want to be able to offer the position to 
someone who can really contribute and gain 
something by playing their part. Our search for 
the right candidate continues…
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Our Year: 2016 - 2017

Report of the Trustees 
We’re going to be around for 
future generations
The final area of focus for our plan is around ensuring we 
are here for years to come and to do this we need to have 
a solid focus on a number of key strands:

•  Growth and sustaining work - ensuring we have our 
‘eggs’ in a number of ‘baskets’ and to insulate us as 
much as possible from the uncertainty out there. 

•  Communications - shouting from the rooftops about 
our great work.

•  Business technology  - with a focus on being current, 
future-proofed and efficient.

•  Resources - looking at what we need and why, and how 
we can use our resources differently.

•  Governance - making sure we’re solid at a Board level 
and resilient in a time when charities are under scrutiny. 

Growth and sustained work
We are always actively bidding for new work 
where we believe we can add value and deliver 
an excellent service; and although we aren’t 
always successful – the bids that we do win are 
well worth it.  In summer 2016, we secured the 
return of Wirral Shared Lives after a successful 
bidding process.  Following the positive pilot of 
having a Domestic Abuse Worker based with 
Substance Misuse services, August 2016 saw us 
commence a similar pilot, but this time based 
alongside mental health services.  

In addition to this we commenced the delivery of three 
Home from Hospital pilots for Shared Lives in Conwy, 
Birmingham and Liverpool. We also commenced a school- 
based therapeutic service for children and young people 
he delivery with Merseyside’s YPAS. 

Over the course of the year many extensions and renewals 
of work were also agreed including:

•  Independent Supporters
•  Shared Lives Liverpool
•  Substance Misuse and 
     Domestic Violence Liverpool 
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Communications
The new Communications Strategy is currently in draft 
with plans to have it signed off by our Leadership Team 
later in the year. We also recruited Lisa Davies as our 
Communications Manager, to lead us towards our 
centenary and focus on building our brand. 

In November, our Prisoners’ Children service was featured 
on a special BBC One Panorama programme called 
‘Prison, My Parent and Me’. During the documentary, 
BAFTA nominated film-maker, Catey Sexton, provided an 
insight into some of the lives of the children we work with. 
Dr Lorna Brookes, who oversees the service, was delighted 
to be involved and raise awareness of this hidden group of 
young people. 

Business technology 
Over the last 12 months the decision was made to develop a 
new Business Technology Strategy that would help us to align 
and develop our systems around HR, finance, payroll and 
client management. A piece of work started in November 
2016 to analyse use and needs around these systems. 

The IT Strategy was signed off by the Board in March 2017. 

Resources 
Over the next year we’ll be looking to move our Seel Street 
Head Office to somewhere new. As we own the land our 
building is on we believe it’s the most sensible thing to 
release some of that money whilst the Liverpool City 
Centre market is at a high. We’ll be going on to purchase 
new office space and sensibly invest additional monies to 
further secure our future. 

Governance
Towards the end of the year we also started the process of 
recruiting additional Trustees to address knowledge gaps 
in the areas of criminal justice, business development and 
experts by experience.  We were delighted to have great 
success in one area in particular with Julie Cooke joining 
us in February 2017 as our Trustee specialising in Criminal 
Justice. Julie is an Assistant Chief Commissioner with 
Merseyside Police. 
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Our Year: 2016 - 2017

Report of the Trustees 
Our brilliant culture
If you’ve ever visited a PSS office you’ll know that our 
people, and our culture is a bit different to other places. 
Our teams deal with challenging stories and issues every 
day, but they don’t take themselves too seriously. 

Many of Team PSS like to spend time together outside 
of work, because it is just a fun place to be and our staff 
all have their values in common. This infectious way of 
working allows all our staff to work within a ‘sandbox’ i.e. 
do their job in the way they want to do it, staying safe but 
having fun along the way. 

A great story of this comes from December 2016, when a 
group of guys from our central team went head-to-head 
with our Barnsley Health Trainers. The match was set 
up by our Apprentices in finance and communications 
off their own backs, with no direction to ‘create a team 
event’. Much to the disappointment of the Seel Street 
team, the Barnsley Health Trainers were comfortable 
winners on the day, with a 13-10 score line and took the 
prestigious PSS football trophy back to Barnsley with them 
(many would say this wasn’t a surprise but don’t tell the 
central team this). The next fixture is booked for summer 
2017. 

Recognising good work 
when we see it
We all have name badges at PSS, which we wear round our 
necks on our different coloured lanyards. However, from 
time to time, you’ll see someone wearing a gold lanyard 
instead of a coloured one. Those are the people who have 
won one of the values awards at our annual Big Awards. 

The who: our 
incredible team

At PSS 80% of our money is spent on our 
people and for that reason this section is 
one of the most important parts of our 
Annual Report. 

This year we have further developed our team in many 
ways; involving more people in the big decisions around 
our future, making sure we’re all here for the right reasons, 
offering opportunities to a whole host of people and 
celebrating what our teams do achieve. 

A value-based culture
‘First who, then what’ is the mantra by which we recruit 
in PSS, and from April 2017, that’s the way we’ll manage 
performance, too. Working here is not just a job and we 
are keen that the people we have on board have that view. 

Our performance management structure has also been 
tightened in the last year, this recognises our need to 
be efficient in every way we can be and specifically in 
ensuring our teams act within all our values and achieve 
their objectives.

We know our culture is good as when we say goodbye to 
people at the moment they are often moving on to bigger 
and better jobs, ones we feel we’ve had a role in preparing 
them for.  

PSS Annual Report 2016 - 201724



The gold lanyards really stand out, like the people wearing 
them, and we think they are a nice way to celebrate the 
people who have gone extra mile and really live the PSS 
values.   

Recognising volunteer supporters 
This year we had a Supporter of the Year Award at the 
Big Awards ceremony to highlight the achievement of an 
outstanding supporter in PSS, Jeanette Burke from the 
Women’s Turnaround service.  

In 2017/2018 we will carry out a piece of work to look at 
how and where services are being helped by supporters.  
We want to ensure that all those giving their time 
voluntarily are having the best experience and also that 
we maximise opportunities for bringing in supporters to 
add value to service delivery.

Supporting workplace learning
Apprentices have continued to be a vital part of our 
workforce and our central services in particular have 
hugely benefited by the enthusiasm, ideas and eagerness 
to learn of these individuals. 

In 2016-2017 we had five Apprentices working with us in 
total. 

Our long standing relationship with a number of 
Universities including 
Liverpool Hope, Liverpool 
John Moores and Glyndwr 
has continued to thrive. 
We have more students 
than ever before across 
a range of disciplines 
including social work, 

mental health, midwifery and nursing. 
This year we also wanted to help our managers get even 
better at what they do and we started with the Leadership 
Team having 360° reviews. This gave our CEO and 
Directors real honest feedback about what works in their 
leadership approach and what doesn’t. It was incredibly 
useful and allowed an anonymous feedback trail for many 
team members. The Senior Management Team will also 
go through this process in 2017.

Conor’s story: 
“My name is Conor Anderson, I’m 22 and I’m 
currently a Digital Communications Assistant at 
PSS. Before this, I was an apprentice for around 6 
months and then I was lucky enough to gain a full 
time position. I was previously a manager in Asda, 
before gaining the apprenticeship with PSS. I really 
enjoyed my time at Asda and often think it shaped 
how I behave in a work setting, but I felt that I 
could offer more than just putting stock on shelves. 
The apprenticeship scheme really appealed to me 
and to be learning whilst earning was a huge plus. 
Being an apprentice at PSS was a really valuable 
experience as I had a lot of responsibility, helping 
maintain the PSS intranet, website and social 
media accounts. I was treated no different to 
anyone else, even though I was an apprentice. I 
now manage the front of house team at reception, 
alongside taking care of anything digital for PSS 
(and anything and everything that comes with it). 
There was a part of me that was worrying about 
leaving a full time managerial position in Asda to 
go and do an apprenticeship, but looking back at 
it now, it’s easily one of the best decisions I’ve 
made.”
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Report of the Trustees 

Strengthening Families portfolios has remained consistent 
with the previous financial year. We saw a reduction in our 
Creating Homes portfolio from 59% to 53%, due mainly 
to the closure of our Scotland office, and an increase in 
our Empowering Communities portfolio from 10% to 
16%, due mainly to our Making Days service.

Expenditure
Our yearly expenditure was £13.6m, representing a decrease 
on prior year expenditure of (£0.2m). Prior year figures 
included pension related costs of £0.5m due to a revised 
actuarial valuation, and current year figures include pension 
related costs of £80k, in relation to our Pension Deficit 
Management Strategy. These costs relate to an ‘enhanced 
transfer value’ exercise conducted during the year.

The underlying year-on-year increase is primarily due to 
the impact of the National Minimum Wage and higher 
direct costs associated with growth. 

Our Performance
in 2016-2017

The remainder of the Trustees’ Report 
constitutes the Strategic Report 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

Financial results
Our financial returns this year have been really positive. 
Our Trustees are pleased with the results especially in light 
of the ongoing pressure placed on public sector funding. 
Our net income and expenditure, inclusive of gains and 
losses on investments recorded a surplus of £0.5m. Gains 
and losses on investment for the year totalled £0.3m, the 
underlying position exclusive of gains and losses being a 
healthy £0.2m. 

Statement of Financial Activities

Income 
Our yearly income of £13.8m represents an increase of 
£0.4m on prior year income.

PSS made the difficult decision to close our Scotland 
operations last year and this resulted in a year on year 
reduction in income of (£1m).  We are pleased that our 
growth in other areas, mainly in our Making Days service 
and Wirral Shared Lives, exceeded any losses during the 
year, resulting in the increased income shown.

Income by portfolio 

Income spread across our Promoting Wellbeing and 

53%

21%

16%

8%

2%

Income 
2016-2017
£13.8 million

Key:

 Creating Homes    Promoting Wellbeing

 Empowering Communities 

 Strengthening Families    Other 
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Gains and losses on investment
During the year a total realised and unrealised gain on 
investments of £0.3m was achieved, with 94% of the gain 
being unrealised.

Other gains and losses 
Actuarial Gains and (Losses) pension scheme were as 
follows: Staffordshire County Council £134k.

Balance Sheet
Our overall increase in funds for the year was £688k.

Working capital
Our liquidity position has further strengthened during 
the year with £1.3m being held in cash, representing 
an increase of £0.4m on prior year. This represents an 
increase of £0.4m on prior year figures and has mainly 
been funded by a reduction in debtor days. The 
organisation is able to cover its immediate liabilities by a 
factor of 2.

The total creditor position has reduced by (£0.1m) from 
£2.8m prior year to £2.7m current year. This is mainly 
due to a decrease in our pension deficit position held with 
the Pensions Trust due to payments made during the 
year. This is a multi-employer scheme, with a calculated 
net present value of future deficit contributions of £1.5m 
shown as a liability as at the Balance Sheet date. There 
is an ongoing plan in place to pay affordable additional 
contributions with the intention of clearing the debt over 
an agreed period. 

Debt
We continue to be debt free.

Investments
The value of our investments has increased against 
prior year from £2.6m to £3.2m. The increase is due to 
an improvement in the markets, and additionally, our 
Trustees have fulfilled their duty of care by ensuring 
surplus cash was moved from our lower performing 
interest bearing accounts, into our higher performing 
investment portfolio.

Our Investment Strategy’s primary aims are as follows: 

•  To achieve a balanced return from income and capital 
growth while accepting a moderate degree of risk.

•  To maintain the real value of income in order to be even 
handed between present and future beneficiaries.

•  To maintain the real value of capital in order to achieve 
the above and to potentially facilitate periodic capital 
withdrawal.

Over the year to March the investments have risen 16.6% 
in total return terms, ahead of CPI +2 (+4.4%), in line with 
ARC Charity Steady Growth (+15.9%) and behind the 
tailored benchmark (18.6%).

Our investments are held in a combination of investment 
funds managed by Rathbones Investment Management 
Ltd and comprise of equities, fixed income securities and 
cash.

Our external investment managers provide a discretionary 
service within agreed limits which is monitored against an 
appropriate benchmark and reviewed on a regular basis 
by the Trustees. As part of our commitment to ethical 
investment we do not make any investments directly with 
the tobacco sector.
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Restricted reserves
Our restricted funds are to be used for detailed purposes 
as specified by the original objectives of those funders.  
Three of the restricted funds; Child Welfare, Mountford 
Fund and Liverpool Queen Victoria Fund have been 
invested and the income arising is spent on the specified 
purpose.

KPIs 2016-2017
This year we continued to report on a number of 
important KPIs across various areas of the business, 
offering an at-a -glance picture of corporate health for 
our Board and sub-committees to reassure them on our 
progress against our plan. 

Reserves
Our reserves policy outlines the level of free reserves that 
PSS holds in order to ensure we can cover our current cash 
flow needs and potential future obligations. This is done 
with the objective that we would be able to continue our 
work if faced with difficult financial times, whilst having 
time to adjust our business strategy, and additionally 
maximise the funds available to fund charitable activities.

Our balance of free reserves currently stands at £2.7m. 
This includes approximately six weeks’ worth of 
anticipated expenditure, plus a contingency for potential 
losses of £0.3m. Our transformation and development 
fund, which is the remaining balance, stands at £1m. 

Trustees consider the level of free reserves held to be 
satisfactory.

KPIs 2016-2017

KPI Commentary

Bids submitted with an 
innovation focus
(Target = 25% of bids)

Progress against annual 
growth target
(Target = 100%)

Regulated services 
compliant

16/17 Q1

63% 

7%

100%

16/17 Q2

33% 

52%

100%

16/17 Q3

33% 

145%

100%

16/17 Q4

56%

170%

100%

The actual number of bids with an 
innovation focus in year was 13, which is one 
more than the 12 from the previous year.

Contribution in Quarter Four was strong due 
to Wirral Shared Lives and the total year-
end contribution is just under 94%. Whilst 
this is not as high as the previous year it is 
nevertheless positive progress.

There were only two inspections in year, one 
from CQC in Staffordshire which was rated
‘Good’ and one in North Wales from CSSIW. 
The Welsh system doesn’t give scores 
however we were compliant.
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Managing external pressures: 
funding 
As an organisation that receives the majority of its income 
through contracts with the public sector we, like many 
others are feeling the impact of the funding cuts that are 
taking hold across the UK. This means that service pricing 
and value for money are absolutely central to our offer 
and retention is key for our future success. 

Adherence to our Business Development Strategy which 
has clear objectives around sustainability and growth has 
enabled us to maintain a consistent approach to bids and 
tenders which has enabled us to retain and secure new 
business.

In 2016-2017 we retained funding around key 
contracts including:

•  Independent Supporters
•  Shared Lives Liverpool
•  Substance Misuse and Domestic Violence 

Liverpool 

We’ve also built on our Growth Strategy by 
winning new contracts including:

•  Wirral Shared Lives
•  Intermediate Care Pilot Conwy
•  Home from Hospital Pilot Birmingham
•  Seedlings
•  Elderly Mental Health Shared Days Service 

Denbighshire
•  Digital Health Trainers

Work that ended during the year:

•  Liverpool Health Trainers
•  Palliative Care
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Operational risk
Ensuring safe and excellent delivery of services is 
key to our mission and compliance is managed 
through a specialist team led by our Head of Quality 
and Compliance. This is vital in ensuring key risks 
around service delivery including safeguarding, equal 
opportunities and human rights are managed. The Head 
of Quality and Compliance works alongside the Director of 
Services to ensure our services meet regulatory standards, 
information governance standards and in addition 
exceed service-user expectations through supporting the 
continuous improvement and development of our services.

Risk management
The Board of Trustees has ultimate responsibility for 
the management of risk across PSS. However delegated 
authority has been passed to the Audit and Governance 
Sub-committee to maintain a framework of risk 
management and control across the organisation.

We have a cross-organisational risk register that sits at 
Leadership Team level and is assessed by the Audit and 
Governance Sub-committee, and the Board quarterly. 
Any changes in the potential impact and or interventions 
around these risks are discussed at these meetings. 
Underneath this sits a directorate risk register and 
underneath that a service register. All risk registers are 
real-time active documents and formally re-assessed each 
month at team meetings. 

Financial risk
The current economic climate remains challenging 
specifically the financial challenges arising from the 
National Minimum Wage legislation.  We continue 
to mitigate financial risk by focusing on securing new 
contracts through our Business Innovation Strategy.

In terms of investments PSS is exposed to market price 
risks arising from movements in the value of shares 
quoted on various markets.  An external investment 
manager is employed to mitigate this risk, this individual 
works within guidelines set out by the Trustees.

•  No events have occurred since the Balance Sheet date, 
which would have a material effect on the accounts for 
the year to 31st March 2017.

•  The Trustees believe that PSS’s assets are available and 
adequate to fulfil its charitable obligations.
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Giving back 
As a charity, we know how much it means to receive 
support from others. That’s why, wherever we can, we try 
to give as much as possible back to the other charitable 
causes and organisations in our local area and nationally. 
And it’s not just PSS as an organisation that has this 
attitude to giving – PSS people are a generous, big-
hearted bunch and we’re always hearing about ways they 
have committed their time and resources to help worthy 
causes. The examples below are just the tip of the iceberg.

Trustee staff members
In addition to her work at PSS, our Chief Executive, Lesley 
Dixon, has been a trustee of the national Board at Mind, 
the mental health charity, since 2008, and she’s currently 
the Vice Chair. Lesley is also a trustee at Liverpool social 
enterprise, the Furniture Resource Centre, which many 
people locally know through their project ‘Bulky Bobs’.  

Julia Purvis, our Head of Wellbeing, is the current Chair of 
the  Health Equalities Group.

Lynn Learman, our Service Manager for Spinning 
World and Clinical Lead for PSS, is a Board Member of 
Merseyside Refugee Support Network.

Pamela Oden and Becky Bloor-Steen, as Heads of Service 
for Shared Lives in the Midlands and Wales respectively, 
are both members of their local Shared Lives Plus Boards.

Fundraising
Merseyside Refugee and Asylum Seekers Pre and Post 
Natal Support Group (MRANG)
When our Parent and Baby Wellness team read an article 
in The Guardian about mums in the developing world it 
inspired them to make gift boxes to give from one mother 
to another.  We wanted new (or waiting) mums to have 
nice things for during or after their labour for themselves 

and the baby, to help make them more comfortable 
(and we felt humbled by the stark contrast in facilities for 
Western women and those from developing countries).

In October 2016 we had two student midwives from Edge 
Hill University on placement with us who also loved the 
idea of the gift boxes. They rallied their class mates to fill 
them with things like babygrows, sanitary pads, shower 
gel, soft blankets and baby lotion.  Even though they were 
only with us for two weeks, they came back following their 
placements to deliver a dozen gift boxes.

We knew of MRANG (though didn’t have a close working 
relationship with them) and approached them to discuss 
this idea and to show them a sample box.  It was very well 
received and we delivered our first batch a few weeks later. 
We also know that Liverpool is home to an increasing 
number of refugee and asylum-seeking women, many of 
whom will be of child-bearing age. We want to continue 
our gift boxes into 2017-2018 as we think they are 
really great way to welcome a vulnerable new mother to 
Liverpool.

Whitechapel and Sister of Charity
At the tail end of 2016 the Mi team became increasingly 
aware of a staggering increase in the number of people 
sleeping rough and begging on the streets surrounding 
PSS head office.  They decided that they wanted to do 
something meaningful about it and shine a light on 
the issue.  The team ran a soup kitchen fundraiser and 
a collection in the winter. Both the Whitechapel Centre 
and Sister of Charity provided us with a list of essential 
items that they needed to distribute to their clients over 
Christmas - this included warm clothing, socks, trainers 
and toiletries. We arranged a collection drive across PSS to 
provide these items and in the New Year Sarah from the 
Whitechapel kindly came and collected this from us, whilst 
telling us bit more about their work.
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lovely people. 

Our new list of values have given us a way to sum up 
what PSS people are like that resonates with everyone, so 
we want to make sure that, when we recruit new people 
into the PSS team, we’re welcoming people whose own 
personal values are a good match to ours. We want people 
who have been PSS people all along – they just don’t 
know it yet! 

That’s why, in 2017-2018, our people and culture and 
communications teams will be working closely together 
to come up with a new, values-based approach to 
recruitment. We’re going to create some brand new 
recruitment materials, like job adverts, application packs 
and videos , that really show off PSS’s personality and 
encourage people applying for jobs as PSS people to do 
the same. 

The Big Move
As a charity with limited funds, it’s really important that 
we make the most of our resources. One of the biggest 
resources we have is our Seel Street office in Liverpool, 
which, thanks to rising property prices, is now worth quite 
a lot of money. 

Anyone who has visited or works in our Seel Street office 
will agree that, although it’s served us really well for the 
30-something years our Merseyside teams have been 
based there, our office building is getting very old and very 
tired. It gives us lots of space, but its space that isn’t fit for 
purpose and needs lots of maintenance.

Fitting with the Big Plan and our objective to ‘continuously 
review our ways of working and maximise the use of our 
resources’, the time has come for us to start having a look 
at what we should do with Seel Street. 

So what’s next? 
Our plans for 2017-
2018

We have no doubt that 2017-2018 will be 
as busy as 2016-2017 has been. For this 
reason we’ve outlined below a number of 
key strands we will be focusing on:

•  Ensuring we have the right people working for us: 
recruitment

•  Using our resources more effectively: The Big Move

•  Promoting our work and celebrating what we do: 
planning for our Centenary

•  Making sure we’re around for future generations: 
growth and service design

•  Equipping our people to be the best they can be: 
investment in leadership skills

•  Utilising technology for the better: systems and IT

•  Ensuring everyone feels part of PSS: 
 engagement of staff

Below we tell you a little bit more about three of these 
pieces of work:

Recruitment
The new, improved set of values we came up with in 2016 
have made a real impact on everything we do at PSS. 
We’re an organisation with bags of personality, which 
is reflected not only in the way we work, but also in our 
teams, which are full of fantastic characters and truly 
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After a lot of thinking, we’ve made the decision to try and 
sell our current property and move our Liverpool offices 
somewhere new.

We’re currently looking for a property in the Liverpool 
area that costs less, needs less maintenance and is 
better suited to what we need. It may not have a central 
L1 postcode, but we’re going to make sure it’s easily 
accessible by public transport and is within a few miles of 
the city centre.

Exciting times ahead – watch this space

Planning for our centenary
Our communications, for example, our website, media 
coverage, leaflets, brochures and videos, are a really 
important part of making sure our service-users know 
we’re here, how we can help and how they can get in 
touch with us. They’re also really important in helping 
us to raise our profile, shout about our successes and tell 
the people who fund us to deliver our services about the 
fantastic work we do.

We’re currently in the process of creating a new strategy 
to set out what we want our communications to achieve 
in 2017-2018, and to outline how we’re going to make 
our communications even better. Over the next year, a 
big focus will be to up our game in the digital sphere – we 
want to make better videos, develop our social media 
channels, make more of our publications available digitally 
and make our website even better.

Also, 2019 marks 100 years of PSS, and, since it’s such a 
special birthday, we want to take the opportunity to make 
a bit of a splash and celebrate the wonderful ways we’ve 
helped people in the last 100 years.  

Our communications team will be working really hard 
in 2017-2018 to create plenty of opportunities for us to 
shout about the impact we’ve made, and get us all primed 
and ready for a birthday year to remember. 

In so far as each of the Trustees are aware:

•  there is no relevant audit information as defined by the 
Companies Act 2006 of which the charitable company’s 
auditors are unaware; and

•  the Trustees have taken all steps that they ought to 
have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the auditors are 
aware of that information.

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the charitable company’s website. Legislation 
in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of Financial Statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

This Annual Report is signed by Mark Rathbone on behalf 
of the Board of Trustees. The Trustees also approve 
the Strategic Report, which is contained herein in their 
capacity as Company Directors.

Mark Rathbone, PSS Chair
PSS (UK) Ltd. November 2017 
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PSS would like to thank the following 469 staff who worked for the organisation in 2016-2017, 
whose commitment and hard work made the achievements in this Annual Report possible. 
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McHale, Anna Owen, Anna Taller, Anne Kilroy, Anne Marie Edibembegni, Anne Prendergast, Anne Simms, Anslem Fernando, Anthony 
Fisher-Jones, Anthony Green, Anthony Hyland, Anthony Galvin, Anthony Gielinck, Anya Price, Areej Alzubaidi, Barry Neil, Becky Bloor-
Steen, Ben Towler, Bernie Addison, Beverley Buxton, Bokang Manala, Brenda Chambers, Brendan Meethan, Brian Bates, Bridget Sweeney, 
Bryan Taafe, Caris McElveen, Carl Black, Carla Jackson, Carol Donnelly, Carol Ellis, Caroline Hendry, Catherine Cornett, Catherine Collins, 
Catherine Higham, Catherine Mcilroy, Catherine Mills, Catherine Owens, Ceri Moore, Chelsea Smith, Chloe Carroll, Chloe Bannister, 
Chloe Norris, Christina Cunningham, Christina Pomford, Christina Smith, Chris Barker, Christine Hall, Christopher Gains, Christopher 
Hepworth, Christopher Lindsay, Christopher Moreton, Clair Kami, Claire Gray, Claire Hynds, Claire D’Annunzio, Clare Holt, Clare Owens, 
Colin Rushton, Connor Howard, Conor Anderson, Courtney Jones, Courtney Moon, Craig Hornby, Daisy Monks, Daniel Block, Daniel 
Moyo, Danielle Broadbent, Darren Rowe, David Cowhig, David Leary, David Williams, David Wilson, Dean Connolly, Debbie Dunne, 
Debbie Feast, Deborah Chudley, Debra Smallshaw, Denise Moon, Derek Thompson, Diane Feeney, Diane Holdsworth, Diane Jones, 
Diane Kane, Diane Kennedy, Dominic Carey, Donna Hall, Donnchadh Cornell, Dorcas Steadman, Eileen Foley, Elaine Gogerty, Eleanor 
Riley, Elisabeth Swindells, Elizabeth Bray, Elizabeth Davies, Elizabeth Freeman, Elizabeth King, Liz Watson, Ellen Kadzirange, Emma Titley, 
Emma Bannon, Emma Durkin, Emma McGregor, Erin Kewn, Evelyn Bulger, Evelyn Vause, Farran Verley, Fatou Ceesay Danso, Faye Evans, 
Francis Meadows, Francis Sas, Gareth Porter, Gareth Roberts, Gemma Lyons, Gemma Stanley, Geoffrey Shaw, George Reid, Georgia 
Smith, Geraldine Finnigan, Gill Creevy, Gillian Daugherty, Gill Gargan, Gillian Kane, Gillian Tarpey, Gina Smith, Graham Coe, Hannah 
Parr, Heather Bromilow, Heather Cooke, Helen Hodgson, Helen Woodacre, Henrieta Pribulova, Hollie Taylor, Holly Pryce, Iain Woodward, 
Ian Jones, Ian Edwards, Ian Travis, Irene McDermott, Irene Mercer, Irene Reid, Irma Gordon, Isabel Blundell, Jack Osborne, Jacqueline 
Taylor, Jacqueline Carroll, Jacqueline Fleming, Jacqueline Gallagher, Jacqueline James, Jade Griffiths, Jade Cox, Jalal Alrakami, James 
Ball, James Cowhig, James Waters, Jane Urmson, Jane Watkins, Jane Chesworth, Jane Hines, Jane Seasman, Janet Birkbeck, Janet 
Curzon, Janet Wingate, Janice Hooper, Janice Mather, Jason Ward, Jayne Reid, Jayne Fitzgerald, Jayne Flynn, Jean Borthwick.
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Jeanette Fegan, Jeannie Heron, Jeannie Redding, Jemma Rogers, Jemma Dodd, Jennifer Semplem Jennifer Mason, Jennifer Odger, 
Jessica Williams, Jessica Anderson, Jessica Sim, Jill May, Joan Swift, Joanna Bedwell, Joanne Duncan, Joanne Roberts, Joanne Ashworth, 
Joanne Jastrzebski, Joanne Stephens, Joanne Ware, John Gallwey, John Wakefield, John Kayll, John McLean, John Murphy, John Williams, 
Jon-paul Thomas, Jordan Smith, Joseph Davies, Joseph Whitehead, Joseph Youds, Joshua Harding, Joyce Roland, Judith Cummings, 
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Dunning, Karen Johnson, Karen Moore, Karol Zwolinski, Kate Reid, Katherine Davis, Katherine MacDonald, Katherine Wilkinson, Kathleen 
Maunsell-Cogley, Kathryn Smith, Katie Hall, Katrina Jones, Katy Joyce, Katy Morgan, Kay Mason-Barney, Kayleigh Curtis, Keith Devereux, 
Keith Newman, Kelly Ainsworth, Kenneth Taylor, Kerris McBride, Kerry Wright, Kimberley Worthington, Kirsty Morrisson, Kirsty Griffiths, 
Kirsty McCartney, Kyle Dennis, Kyle Lee, Laura Devereux, Laura White, Lauren Gerard, Lee Lewis, Lee Woolfe, Leonard Edmondson, Lesley 
Dixon, Lena O’Connell, Linda Owens, Linda Magee, Linsey McKnight, Lisa Davies, Lisa Irvine, Lisa O’Grady, Lisa O’Rourke, Liza Hatfield, 
Lorna Brookes, Louise Brannigan, Louise Brabin, Louise Exley, Louise Pearce, Louise Theobald, Luke Hogan, Luke Murphy, Luke Stevenson, 
Lydia McCartney, Lyn Brittles, Lynn Learman, Lynn Owens, Lynn Robertson, Malcolm Thomas, Mandy Howe, Marcus Hardy, Margaret 
McCartney, Maria Caroprese, Maria Stamiri, Maria Clequin, Maria Hickinbottom, Maria Owens, Maria Prendergast, Marie Scanlan, Marie 
Ross, Marina Susil-pryke, Mario Kyriacou, Mark Clausen, Mark Foley, Mark McHale, Mary Goodchild, Mary Seasman, Matthew Smith, 
Maxine Knowles, Melanie Estwick, Melanie Lindo Barney, Melissa Wilson, Michael Ellis, Michael Quinn, Michelle Moon Michelle Cooksey 
Michelle Corrigan, Michelle Fitzgerald, Michelle Kelsall, Michelle Lee, Michelle McHale, Natalie Desilva, Natalie Hunt, Nichola Proctor, 
Nicola Ashton, Nicola Currie, Nicola Donaghey, Nicola Martin, Nicola McGovern, Nirmal Johal, Norma Harris, Nuala Ward, Olive Spence, 
Pamela Clare, Pam Doyle, Pamela Foy, Pamela Oden, Patricia Doocey, Patricia Roberts, Patricia Wainwright, Patricia Williams, Patrick 
Morton, Paul Edwards, Paul Pritchard, Paul Shipley, Paula Hogg, Paula McDonnell, Pauline Henderson, Pauline Peachey, Pauline Winrow, 
Peter Gill, Philip O’Neill, Phyllis Gardiner, Rachael Moore, Rachael Stott, Rachel Bishop, Rachel Jones, Rachel McCluskey, Rebecca Corbett-
Bate, Rebecca Cuddy, Rebecca Duggan, Rebecca Shaw, Rebecca Cuddy, Rebecca Lunt, Rebecca Page, Reena Kaypee, Rhea Garson, Rita 
Chambers, Rita Metcalf, Robert Knight, Robert Bell, Robert West, Robin Bruce, Rodney Silver, Ronald English, Rosemary Devereux, Ross 
Williams, Roy Burrows, Rukayat Akinola, Rushell Small, Samantha Hayes, Samuel Bratherton, Sandra Clarke, Sandra Bracegirdle, Sandra 
Clarke, Sandra Middleton, Sandra Odogu, Sarah Cummings, Sarah Dobie, Sarah Jaimison, Sarah Mathieson, Sarah Dewick, Sarah Wilson, 
Sarah Zielonka, Sayneb Saleh, Scott Stephens, Sean Margison, Sean Berry, Sharon Cooper, Sharon Cranny, Sharon Dickinson, Sharon 
Edwards, Sharon McGee, Shauna Kerr, Shelley Maguire, Shelly Wareing, Sinead Martin, Siobhan Whittaker, Sonia McVey, Stephanie 
Graham, Stephen Standish, Steven Cavanagh, Susan Houghton, Susan Bowness, Susan Cowan, Susan Graham, Susan Greatwich, 
Susan Langfeld, Susan Newall, Susan Orme, Susanne Plath, Suzanne Radford, Suzanne Storey, Tayler Wells, Terence Boughton, 
Teresa Hooper, Tessa Dunbavin, Thomas Hamilton, Thomas Jowitt, Thomas Stanley, Toni-Marie Clague, Tracey Smith, 
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Thomas, William Young, Yuekai Wu.
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Trustees’ 
responsibilities

The Trustees are responsible for preparing 
the Strategic Report, the Annual 
Report and the Financial Statements 
in accordance with applicable law and 
regulations.

Company law requires the Trustees to prepare Financial 
Statements for each financial year in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United 

Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law).  
Under company law the Trustees must not approve the 
Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
charity and of the incoming resources and application of 
resources, including the income and expenditure, of the 
charity for that period. 

In preparing these Financial Statements, the Trustees are 
required to:

•  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

•  make judgements and accounting estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

•  state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards 
have been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the Financial Statements;

•  prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
charity will continue in business.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the charity’s transactions and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the charity 
and enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements 
comply with the Companies Act 2006.  They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charity and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Our Year: 2016 - 2017

Report of the Trustees 
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Independent
Auditor’s Report

Opinion on Financial Statements
In our opinion the Financial Statements: 
•  give a true and fair view of the state of the charity’s 

affairs as at 31st March 2017 and of the charity’s 
incoming resources and application of resources, including 
the income and expenditure, for the year then ended;

•  have been properly prepared in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•  have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by 
the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Trustees’ 
report, which includes the strategic report, for the financial 
year for which the Financial Statements are prepared is 
consistent with the Financial Statements and the strategic 
report and the Trustees’ report have been prepared in 
accordance with applicable legal requirements. 

Based on our knowledge and understanding of the charity 
and its environment obtained during the course of the 
audit we have identified no material misstatements in the 
strategic report and Trustees’ report.

Matters on which we are required to 
report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

•  adequate accounting records have not been kept, or 
returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or

•  the Financial Statements are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns; or

•  certain disclosures of Trustees’ remuneration specified 
by law are not made; or

•  we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

Hamid Ghafoor (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of BDO LLP, statutory auditor.
Liverpool, United Kingdom. November 2017. 
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in 
England and Wales (with registered number OC305127).

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Trustees and 
Members of PSS (UK)

We have audited the Financial Statements of PSS (UK) 
for the year ended 31st March 2017 which comprise 
Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance Sheet, 
the Cash Flow Statement and the related notes. The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the charity’s members, 
as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 
the Companies Act 2006.  Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the charity’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them 
in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the charity 
and the charity’s members as a body, for our audit work, 
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Trustees 
and auditor
As explained more fully in the statement of Trustees’ 
responsibilities, the Trustees (who are also the directors 
of the charitable company for the purposes of company 
law) are responsible for the preparation of the Financial 
Statements and for being satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view. We have been appointed auditor under the 
Companies Act 2006 and report in accordance with that 
Act.  Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on 
the Financial Statements in accordance with applicable 
law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the 
Financial Reporting Council’s (FRC’s) Ethical Standards for 
Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the Financial 
Statements
A description of the scope of an audit of Financial 
Statements is provided on the FRC’s website at 
www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate
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Balance Sheet at 31st March 2017

2017 (£)
Restated
2016 (£)

Fixed assets:     
Tangible fixed assets         4  1,916,280 1,977,135
Investments          5  3,223,817  2,648,263   
           
           5,140,097  4,625,398 

Current assets:      
Debtors           6  1,457,755 1,899,759 
Cash at bank and in hand          1,255,283 845,360 
           
           2,713,038 2,745,119 

Liabilities     
Amounts falling due within one year        7  1,346,896  1,346,038

Net current assets          1,348,142 1,399,081

Total assets less current liabilities         6,488,239  6,024,479

Liabilities
Amounts falling due greater than one year       7  1,340,533  1,430,219

Defined benefit pension scheme asset / (liability)      8  177,000   42,000 

Total net assets           5,324,706  4,636,260

The funds of the charity         9
Restricted funds           729,867   631,162  
Unrestricted funds:
General Reserve           3,381,981 2,835,238
Fixed Asset revaluation reserve         1,212,858  1,169,860
           
           5,324,706  4,636,260 

Note

These Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 27th September 2017
and signed on its behalf by: 

Mark Rathbone, PSS Chair

The notes on pages 41-54 form part of these Accounts. 
Company registration number 00214077.
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Cash flow statement for the year ended 
31st March 2017

2017 (£)
Restated
2016 (£)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities       594,213  (156,757)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Dividends, interest and rents from investments        91,301  104,267
Purchase of property plant and equipment        (39,449)  (105,570)
Proceeds from sale of investments         374,899  513,167
Purchase of investments          (611,041) (305,029) 

Net cash (used in) / provided by investing activities       (184,290) 206,835

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period      409,923  50,078  
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period      845,360  795,282

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period      1,255,283 845,360

Reconciliation of net income / (expenditure) to net cash flow from operating activities

Net income / (expenditure) for the reporting period (as per the SOCI)     554,446  (618,529) 

Adjustments for:
Reversal of depreciation change on revalued assets       -  (44,192)  
Depreciation charges          100,305  76,471  
(Gains) / losses on investments         (339,412) 170,576  
Dividends, interest and rents from investments        (91,301)  (104,267) 
(Increase) / decrease in debtors         442,004  (182,044) 
(Decrease) / increase in creditors         (70,828)  541,228  
FRS102 service costs and contribution gains        (1,000)  4,000 

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities      594,213  (156,757) 

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents:
Cash in hand           1,255,283 845,360  

Total cash and cash equivalents         1,255,283  845,360 

The notes on pages 41-54 form part of these  Accounts. 
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1. Accounting policies
Basis of preparation
The company is limited by guarantee and has no share 
capital.

The Financial Statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the Statement of Recommended
Practice: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable 
to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with 
the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) effective 1 January 
2015 (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland 
(FRS 102), the Companies Act 2006 and the Charities Act 
2011.

The Financial Statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the historical cost convention, except 
that investments are stated at market value, and freehold 
land and buildings are carried at valuation.

The company has a £1 investment in a dormant 
subsidiary. Consolidated accounts have not been prepared 
on the grounds of materiality. The accounts therefore 
present information about the company only and not 
about its group.

The Trustees confirm that the Charity meets the definition 
of a public benefit entity under FRS 102.

Going concern
The Financial Statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis, which principally assumes that the 
company will continue to receive grants and fees at a 
sustainable level.

The directors and management are aware of the potential 
impact of further national and local government spending 
reviews on the company and the impact of the living 
wage. Over the past year we have fully adhered to our 
Reserves trategy, and produced an updated financial plan 
that has been agreed by the Trustees. 

On this basis and taking account the levels of cash and 
investments currently held, the directors consider it 
appropriate to prepare the Financial Statements on a 
going concern basis.

Income and expenditure
Project income represents the amount of grants and 
fees receivable for the year and is credited to incoming 
resources when the services have been completed. Income 
relating to a future period is deferred. 

Donations and legacies are recognised when receipt is 
probable and the value can be measured reliably.

Investment income is recognised when receivable for 
unrestricted projects and in accordance with restrictions 
for restricted projects. 

The contribution of volunteers is not quantified in financial 
term.

Expenditure is recognised on an accruals basis and is 
allocated between:
•  expenditure incurred on the fulfilment of the charity’s 

objectives (charitable activities);
•  expenditure incurred directly in the effort to raise 

voluntary contributions (costs of generating funds);
•  expenditure incurred in the governance of the charity.

Any unexpended income on projects which relates 
to grants or donations which must be expended in 
the following year is taken to creditors as ‘Grants and 
donations received in advance’, and shown as deferred 
income. The outturns of other projects, whose income 
exceeds expenditure or whose expenditure exceeds 
income, are taken to reserves.

Allocation of overheads
PSS has a significant degree of centralisation of services 
such as human resources, business development, finance, 
IT and quality and compliance. 

The costs of these centralised services are allocated 
to individual projects on the basis of actual project 
expenditure.  This ensures a fair and transparent allocation 
of costs, and is in line with accepted practices within the 
voluntary sector. 

Fund accounting
Restricted funds are to be used for specific purposes laid 
down by the donor.  Expenditure for those purposes is 
charged to the fund, together with a fair allocation of 
overheads and support costs.

Unrestricted funds are donations and other incoming 
resources received or generated for expenditure on the 
general objectives of the charity.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Investments
Investments are stated in the Balance Sheet at fair value. 
Unrealised gains and losses arising on the revaluation 
of investments are, together with the realised gains and 
losses arising on the sale of investments, shown in the 
statement of financial activities as net gains/(losses) on 
investments.

Tangible fixed assets
Properties including land and buildings are included at fair 
value as at the Balance Sheet. A full valuation is attained 
from a qualified valuer, for each property at regular 
intervals, and specifically in any year were the Trustees 
believe there has been a material change in value.

Revaluation gains or losses (which are not considered to 
be impairment losses) on assets held for the charity’s own 
use are included in the SOFA under the section for other 
recognised gains and losses.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation 
of tangible fixed assets, excluding land, less their residual 
values, on a straight line basis over their estimated useful 
lives.  

The following depreciation rates are used:
Furnishings and fitting    20%
Office equipment and minibuses 25%
Freehold property   4%

Property valuation are split 75% land value and 25% 
building.

Project-based assets, and assets individually costing below 
£250 are written off fully in the year of acquisition.

Leased equipment
Payments in respect of operating lease agreements (being 
agreements not giving rights approximating to ownership) 
have been charged to the Statement of Financial 
Activities on a straight line basis.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
when PSS (UK) becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. All financial assets and 
liabilities are initially measured at transaction price 
(including transaction costs). PSS (UK) only has financial 
assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify as 
basic financial instruments. 

Basic financial instruments are initially recognised at 
transaction value and subsequently measured at their 
settlement value.

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the 
settlement amount due after any trade discount offered. 
Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid net of any 
trade discounts due. 

Creditors and provisions are recognised where PSS (UK) 
has a present obligation resulting from a past event that 
will probably result in the transfer of funds to a third 
party and the amount due to settle the obligation can be 
measured or estimated reliably. Creditors and provisions 
are normally recognised at their settlement amount after 
allowing for any trade discounts due.

Pension costs and other post-retirement 
benefits
PSS participate in the Pension Trust Growth Plan, a multi-
employer defined benefit pension scheme managed by 
the Pension Trust. It has not been possible to identify the 
underlying assets and liabilities belonging to the charity. 
As such, pension contributions are accounted for as if 
the scheme were a defined contribution pension scheme. 
Contributions to the pension fund are charged to the SOFA. 

PSS has also entered into a funding agreement with 
the Pension Trust to contribute towards the scheme 
deficit and recognises a liability for this obligation. The 
amount recognised is the net present value of the deficit 
contributions payable under the agreement that relates 
to the deficit. The interest cost of the debt is reflected in 
the SOFA with the payments (less interest) being offset 
against the liability.

The company contributes to a multi-employer defined 
benefit scheme for certain employees engaged on a 
project funded by Staffordshire County Council. The assets 
of the scheme are held separately from those of the 
company. 

For the Staffordshire County Council Scheme, scheme 
assets are measured at fair value. Scheme liabilities 
are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected 
unit method and are discounted at appropriate high 
quality corporate bond rates. The net surplus or deficit is 
presented separately from other net assets on the Balance 
Sheet. A net surplus is recognised only to the extent that it 
is recoverable by the charity.

Actuarial gains and losses are reported in other recognised 
gains / (losses).

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Judgements in applying accounting policies 
and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In preparing the Financial Statements, the Trustees are 
required to make estimates and judgements. The matters 
considered below are considered to be the most important 
in understanding the judgements that are involved in 
preparing the Financial Statements and the uncertainties 
that could impact the amounts reported in the results of 
operations, financial position and cash flows.

•  Actuarial assumptions in respect of Staffordshire 
defined benefit pension schemes - The application 
of actuarial assumptions relating to defined benefit 
pension schemes is incorporated in the Financial 
Statements in accordance with FRS 102. In applying 
FRS 102, advice is taken from independent qualified 
actuaries. In this context, significant judgement 
is exercised in a number of areas, including future 
changes in salaries and inflation, mortality rates and the 
selection of appropriate discount rates.

•  Pension scheme deficit reduction payments - 
 As explained at note 8, there is a deficit reduction plan 

in place in respect of the PSS (UK) membership of the 
Pension Trust’s Growth Plan. FRS 102 requires a liability 
to be recognised in respect of the present value of 
future contributions payable under the terms of the 
deficit recovery plan. The incorporation of this liability 
in the Financial Statements involves the exercise of 
judgement in a number of areas, including the selection 
of an appropriate discount rate.

•  Valuation of freehold property - freehold property is 
held at fair value. In order to determine the fair value, 
advice is taken from independent qualified valuers. In 
this context, judgement is exercised in a number of 
areas, including local market conditions and investor 
demand. 

•  Classification of leases - whether leases entered into 
by PSS (UK), as lessee, is operating leases or finance 
leases. These decisions depend on an assessment of 
whether the risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred from the lessor to the lessee on a lease by 
lease basis.

Other key sources of estimation uncertainty include:

•  Depreciation of tangible fixed assets and 
impairment - Tangible fixed assets are depreciated 
over their useful lives taking into account residual lives, 
where appropriate.

•  Provision for bad debts - bad debts is provided against 
when there is objective evidence that the debt will not 
be recoverable.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2017 (£) 2016 (£)2. Incoming resources

Notes to the Financial Statements

Analysis of income: 

Grants:
Liverpool CCG           492,130  600,108  
Parent Infant Partnership          39,950  78,500  
Social Finance           125,096  137,644  
Other            176,275  194,544

Total Grant income          833,451  1,010,796

Fees for charitable services provided         12,489,090 12,078,375
Donations from trusts and individuals         50,815  80,795  
Big Lottery Fund           215,782  13,426  
Legacies            29  22,874  
Investment income          91,301  104,267  
Sundry income           128,372  90,763 

Total income           13,808,840 13,401,296

Movements in deferred income

Grant income deferred at 1.4.2016         50,900  195,092  
Grants receivable in the year          903,031  866,604  
Grant income deferred at 31.3.2017         (120,480) (50,900)  

Grant income recognised for the year         833,451  1,010,796 

Donation income deferred at 1.4.2016         -  25,581  
Donations received in the year         50,844  78,088  
Donation income deferred at 31.3.2017        -  -  

Donation income recognised for the year        50,844  103,669  

Big Lottery Fund income deferred at 1.4.2016        81,961  21,353  
Big Lottery Fund income receivable in the year        251,062  74,034  
Big Lottery Fund income deferred at 31.3.2017        (117,241) (81,961)  

Big Lottery Fund income recognised in the year        215,782  13,426  

Fee income deferred at 1.4.2016         66,814  70,970  
Fee income receivable in the year         12,495,419 12,074,219
Fee income deferred at 31.3.2017         (73,143)   (66,814) 

Fee income recognised in the year         12,489,090 12,078,375

2017 (£) 2016 (£)
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2. Incoming Resources (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
2017 (£) 2016 (£)

Income 
recognised in 
the year
(£)

Income 
deferred at 
31.3.2017
(£)

Income 
deferred 
1.4.2016
(£)

Income 
receivable 
for the year
(£)

Analysis of income by operational area:

Creating Homes             7,346,402 7,885,607
Empowering Communities          2,241,358 1,373,996
Promoting Wellbeing          2,938,555 2,885,573
Strengthening Families          1,011,114 969,401  
Other            271,411  286,719  

           13,808,840 13,401,296

Big Lottery Fund analysis: 

Ordinary Homes IID/01/01433182     25,353  (25,353)  -  - 
Family Impact 0010266218     -  67,024  (45,688)  21,336
Ruby Project 0010255361      56,608  123,069  (98,398)  81,279
Homeshare      -  86,322  (71,697)  14,626

       81,961  251,062  (215,783) 117,241

Investment income includes:

Income from UK listed investments         75,958  87,786
Income from non-UK listed investments        13,776  15,924 
Interest on deposit funds          1,567  557   
           
           91,301  104,267  

2017 (£) 2016 (£)
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3. Expenditure

Notes to the Financial Statements

2017
(£)

2016
(£)

2017
Total
(£)

2016
Total 
(£)

Governance
Costs
(£)

Pension
Exceptional
(£)

Direct 
Costs
(£)

Support
Costs
(£)

Expenditure on 
charitable activities:

Creating Homes   6,427,809  737,695  24,291  25,405   7,215,200 7,818,964
Empowering Communities  1,898,154 217,757  7,170  7,499   2,130,580 1,350,298
Promoting Wellbeing  2,547,108 293,967   9,679  10,124   2,860,878 2,841,884
Strengthening Families  839,402  96,996   3,194  3,340   942,932  1,026,232
Other    440,485  -  -  -  440,485  807,944  
Costs of generating 
voluntary income   3,731  -  -   -  3,731  3,927 

   12,156,689  1,346,415 44,334  46,368  13,593,806  13,849,249

Expenditure on charitable activities is the cost of providing charitable services, including staff costs, and elements of service 
managed centrally.

Governance costs relate to the costs of compliance with statutory requirements, including the external audit.

Governance costs:

Statutory Audit fees          15,540   15,540
Other fees to Auditors          7,419  22,265  
Management and Administration Salaries        21,375  23,133  

           44,334  60,938   

The following amounts are included in expenditure:
Depreciation: tangible fixed assets, owned        100,305  76,471 
Reversal of depreciation due to revaluation of freehold property      -  (44,192)  
Pension Finance Income re FRS102         2,000  (1,000)  
Operating Lease rentals:
- Land and building           181,898  211,800  
- Other            24,314  29,019  
Auditors Remuneration -  Audit Services        15,540  15,540  

Staff costs:
Salaries            6,671,688 6,559,725 
Social Security costs          496,176  489,556  
Other pension costs          311,848  302,699  

           7,479,712 7,351,980 

Average no. of employees          382   385

Analysis:
Charitable activities          380   383
Governance           2   2

           382   385

The emoluments of higher paid employees fell within the following ranges:
£60,000 - £70,000           2   2
£90,001 - £100,000         -  1
£100,001 - £110,000          1   -
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Notes to the Financial Statements
3. Expenditure (continued)
The key management personnel comprise of the Chief 
Executive Officer, Director of Services, Director of Finance 
and People and Director of Business Development and 
Innovation. The total gross salaries and employer pension 
contributions of the key management was £299,240 
(2016: £301,072). The total paid during the year on 
redundancy and termination payments was £93,936 
(2016: £88,426).

During the year 3 higher paid employees (2016: 3) 
participated in the defined contribution pension scheme.  

Employer’s pension contributions for higher paid staff 
were £18,030 (2016: £15,550). No trustee or person with 
a family or business connected with a trustee received 
remuneration in the year from the charity. Travel costs 
amounting to £247 (2016: £267) were reimbursed to 1 
(2016: 1) member of the Trustees. Professional Indemnity 
insurance that covers our Trustees was paid during the 
year at a cost of £8,399 (2016: £9,197).

A liability is recognised for short-term compensated 
absence arising from employee entitlement to paid 
annual leave. The value of this provision is £51,536.

4. Tangible fixed assets

Minibuses
(£)

Total
(£)

Furnishings 
and fittings
(£)

Office 
equipment
(£)

Freehold 
property 
Seel Street
(£)

Freehold 
property
other
(£)

Cost / valuation:
Balance at 1.4.2016  1,500,000  273,000   97,578   645,579   22,794   2,538,951
Additions   -   -   1,085   38,365  -   39,450
Disposals    -   -   -  -   -   -
Gain on revaluations  -   -   -   -   -   -

Balance at 31.3.17  1,500,000  273,000   98,663  683,944   22,794   2,578,401

Depreciation:
Balance at 1.4.2016  -  -   81,952  457,070   22,794   561,816
Charge for year   15,000  3,513   5,591  76,201   -   100,305
On disposals   -   -   -   -   -   -
Written back on 
revaluatons   -   -   -   -   -   -

Balance at 31.3.2017  15,000   3,513  87,543  533,271   22,794   662,121

Net book amount:
31st March 2017   1,485,000  269,487  11,120  150,673  -   1,916,280

31st March 2016   1,500,000  273,000   15,626  188,509  -   1,977,135

All tangible fixed assets were used for charitable purposes.

The freehold properties were professionally revalued by CBRE to fair value as at 27th January 2016. Other than as reflected 
above, the Trustees have deemed that these valuations remain appropriate at 31st March 2017.

2017 (£) 2016 (£)
If the freehold land and buildings had not been revalued, they would 
have been included on the historical cost basis as follows:

Cost            865,929  865,929
Accumulated depreciation         324,300  315,640
           
Net book value          541,629  550,289
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5. Fixed asset investments

Restricted
LCWT
(£)

Total
(£)

Restricted 
Liv 
Queen Vic
(£)

Restricted
Mountford
(£)

Unrestricted
(£)

Listed investments:
Market value at 1st April 2016   1,794,153 225,099  76,924  552,087  2,648,263
Legacies      -   -   -   -   -
Additions     587,689  13,347  -  10,005  611,041
Disposals      (317,230) (19,572)  -  (17,668)  (354,470)
Adjustment to market value   210,921  29,400  -  78,662  318,983

Market value at 31st March 2017   2,275,533 248,274  76,924  623,086  3,223,817

Analysis of quoted investments:
Fixed interest     351,710  65,080  -  88,754  505,544
Ordinary shares - UK    833,370  87,972  -  422,158  1,343,500
Ordinary shares - overseas    727,379  75,196  -  102,980  905,555
Alternatives     363,074  20,026  -  9,194  392,294

Other investments:
Deposit fund     -  -  76,924  -  76,924

     2,275,533 248,724  76,924  623,086  3,223,817

All the quoted fixed asset investments are listed on a recognised Stock Exchange. 

The other investments are deposits with the COIF Charities Deposit Fund. 

An analysis of the location of investments is as follows:

Listed investments at valuation       2,212,233 934,660  3,146,893
Deposit fund         76,924  -  76,924

At 31st March 2017        2,289,157 934,660  3,223,817

At 31st March 2016        1,772,017 876,246  2,648,263

The historic cost of listed investments at 31st March 2017 is £2,440,651 (2016: £2,170,035).

There are no individual investments which comprise greater than 5% of the value of the portfolio.

The company has a £1 investment representing 100% of the issued ordinary share capital of PSS Commercial Services 
Limited incorporated in England. The subsidiary has been dormant throughout the year. Consolidated accounts have not 
been prepared on the grounds of materiality.  The net assets of the company at the Balance Sheet date were £1.

Non UK
(£)

Total
(£)

UK
(£)

PSS Annual Report 2016 - 201748



Notes to the Financial Statements
6. Debtors 2017 (£) 2016 (£)

Trade Debtors           901,858  1,136,199
Other Debtors           4,477  129,795
Prepayments and Accued Income         551,420  633,765

           1,457,755 1,899,759

Other Debtors:
Within one year           4,477  4,089  
After one year           -   125,706

In the prior year, the charity had issued a bond to Liverpool City Council which they could draw down from in the event the charity 
defaulted on contracts with the council. This bond expired during the current year.

7. Creditors 2017 (£)
Restated 
2016 (£)

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade Creditors           226,011  195,756
Other Creditors           13,348  41,324
Accruals            491,955  576,077
Deferred Income           310,866  199,677
Other Taxes, Social Security          147,893  123,848
Pension Creditor           38,769  36,065
Pensions Trust liability: due within a year       136,054  173,291 

           1,364,896 1,346,038

Amounts falling due after one year:
Pensions Trust liability: due greater than a year       1,340,533 1,430,219

           2,705,429 2,776,257

2016 figures have been restated to present the commitment concerning deficit contributions towards the Pensions Trust Growth Plan as a 
liability, split between due less than one year and due greater than one year, rather than as a provision as stated in prior year accounts. 
It is considered that presentation as a liability more accurately reflects the substance of the arrangement.
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8. Pension obligations
The Pensions Trust Growth Plan
PSS participate in the Pension Trust Growth Plan, a multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme managed by the Pension Trust. 
Although in most respects this scheme is a money purchase arrangement it does have some guarantees which are deemed to be a defined 
benefit pension obligation.  It has not been possible to identify the underlying assets and liabilities belonging to the charity.

PSS has entered into a funding agreement with the Pension Trust to contribute towards the scheme deficit and recognises a liability for 
this obligation. 

A revaluation of the scheme was undertaken in February 2016, resulting in an increase in the future deficit contributions. The latest 
actuarial valuation received from The Pensions Trust was based on September 2014 figures. This showed an overall underfunding level of 
the scheme standing at 81.8%. 

The results of the revaluation confirmed the requirement for additional contributions to the Growth Plan from 1st April 2017 amounting to 
£178,491 p.a. This value shall increase by 3% p.a. compounded over a period of 8 years 5 months. The net present value of future deficit 
contributions amounts to £1.5m.

2017 (£)
Restated
2016 (£)

The Pensions Trust Growth Plan
As at 1st April 2016          1,603,510 1,243,317
Charged to SOCI           46,369  520,270
Utilised / released           (173,292) (160,077)

As 31st March 2017         1,476,587 1,603,510

2017 2016
The major assumptions used by the actuary were as follows:

Pension increase rate          2.4%  2.2%
Salary increase rate          2.8%  4.2%
Discount rate           2.6%  3.5%

The mortality assumptions adopted at 31st March 2017 imply the following life expectancies at age 65:

Current pensioner’s  Male:  22.1 years    
   Female:  24.4 years      

Future pensioner’s   Male:  24.1 years
   Female:  26.4 years

Staffordshire County Council Pension Fund
Following the inception of a new project in 2008 for Staffordshire County Council, the company has entered into a defined benefit scheme 
for those employees transferred from the previous provider under TUPE arrangements, to the company. The transfer took effect from 1st 
December 2008.

The scheme is the Staffordshire County Pension Fund administered by Staffordshire County Council. The employers accounting principles 
are non-CIPFA. The actuary of the scheme has provided a valuation as at 31st March 2017 which was based on a set of assumptions and 
assumes that the experience of the fund will be in line with these assumptions.
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At 31st
March 2017

At 31st
March 2016

Categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets:   %  (£)  %  (£)

Equities          74 811,040  75  730,000 
Bonds          13 142,480  11  107,000 
Property          8 87,680  9  87,000
Cash          5 54,800  5  49,000

Total market value of assets         1,096,000  973,000 
Present value of funded liabilities        (919,000)  (931,000) 

Surplus in scheme pension fund assets        177,000   42,000 

8. Pension obligations (continued)

The best estimate of contributions to be paid by the employer to the scheme for the period beginning after 31st March 2017 is £5,000. 

A five-year summary is presented below:

2014
(£)

2013
(£)

2016
(£)

2015
(£)

2017
(£)

Defined benefit obligations    919,000  931,000   1,002,000  839,000   716,000
Scheme assets     1,096,000 973,000   970,000   852,000   804,000

Surplus / (deficit)     177,000  42,000   (32,000)   13,000   88,000 

Experience adjustment on scheme assets  100,000  (21,000)   76,000   (15,000)   65,000

Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities  159,000  6,000   4,000   (17,000)   - 
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8. Pension Obligations (Continued) 2017 (£) 2016 (£)

Reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of the present value of scheme liabilites:

Opening scheme liabilities          931,000  1,002,000
Current service costs          6,000  9,000 
Interest cost           32,000  32,000 
Members contributions          2,000  1,000
Benefits paid           (18,000)  (14,000)
Total Remeasurements recognised         (34,000)  (99,000)

Closing scheme liabilities          919,000   931,000  

Reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of the present value of scheme assets:

Opening fair value of scheme assets         973,000   970,000 
Interest Income           34,000  31,000
Members contributions          2,000  1,000
Employer contribution          5,000  6,000
Benefits paid           (18,000)   (14,000) 
Total Remeasurements recognised         100,000  (21,000) 

Closing fair value of employer assets         1,096,000 973,000

Movements in the asset during the year:

Opening net asset           42,000  (32,000)
Current and past service cost          (6,000)   (9,000)
Contributions           5,000  6,000
Total Net Interest           2,000  (1,000)
Total Remeasurements recognised         134,000  78,000

Closing net asset           177,000  42,000

Analysis of the amount credited to finance income:

Expected return on pension scheme assets        34,000   31,000
Interest on pension scheme liabilities         (32,000)   (32,000) 

Total other Finance Income          2,000  (1,000)   
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Realised /
unrealised
gains / losses
and transfers
(£)

Balance at
31.3.2017 
(£)

Expenditure 
and losses
(£)

Net
incoming /
(outgoing)
resources
(£)

Balance at
1.4.2016
(£)

Incoming
resources
(£)

Restricted funds:
Child Welfare   361,630  3,422  (3,437)  (16)  79,361  440,976
Mountford Fund   36,040  313  (313)  -  -  36,040
Liverpool Queen 
Victoria Fund   242,138  7,472  (7,540)  (68)  30,802  272,871
Other    (8,646)  1,097,864 (1,109,238) (11,374)  -  (20,020)

Total restricted funds  631,162  1,109,071 (1,120,528) (11,458)  110,163  729,867

General funds:
Fixed Asset Revaluation  1,169,860 -  (9,854)  (9,854)  52,852  1,212,858
General reserve   2,835,238 12,699,769 (12,463,424) 236,345  310,398  3,381,981

   4,005,098 12,699,769  (12,473,278) 226,491  363,250   4,594,839

Total unrestricted funds  4,005,098  12,699,769  (12,473,278) 226,491  363,250  4,594,839

Total reserves   4,636,260  13,808,840 (13,593,806) 215,033  473,413  5,324,706

Fund balances at 31st March 2017 are represented by:

Movement in funds:

9. Reserves
The income funds of the charity include restricted funds comprising of unexpended balances of donations and gains held on trust to be 
applied for specific purposes.

Other 
assets and 
liabilities

Total
(£)

Investments 
at market 
value
(£)

Bank
balances
(£)

Tangible
fixed assets
(£)

Restricted funds:
Child Welfare Projects    -  623,086  17,753  (199,864) 440,975
Mountford Fund     -  76,924  -  (40,884)  36,040
Liverpool Queen Victoria    -  248,274  13,720  10,878  272,872
Other      -  -  -  (20,020)  (20,020)

     -  948,284  31,473  (249,890) 729,867

Unrestricted funds:
Fixed Asset Revaluation    1,212,858 -  -  -  1,212,858
General reserve     703,420  2,275,533 1,223,810 (820,782) 3,381,981

     1,916,278 2,275,533 1,223,810 (820,782) 4,594,839

     1,916,278 3,223,817 1,255,283 (1,070,672) 5,324,706

Movement in funds:

Purpose of funds 

Restricted: Our restricted funds are to be used for detailed purposes as specified by the original objectives of those funders 
detailed below:
•  Child Welfare - to be used for the benefit of children.
•  Mountford Fund - to be for used for the benefit of the elderly.
•  Liverpool Queen Victoria - to be used for the benefit of the sick.
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11. Related Party Transactions
During the year £15,885 (2016: £17,212) was paid to Brabners LLP for legal services, this is a law firm in which Mark Rathbone (Chair) is a 
partner.  There was £Nil (2016: £Nil) outstanding at 31st March 2017. Our Chair, who is an interested party, has excluded himself from any 
Board decisions to utilise the services of Brabners and, at Brabners, is not involved in the provision of any of the services provided by them.

During the year £16,430 (2016: £17,016) was paid to Rathbones Investment Management LTD for Investment Management services. 
There was £Nil (2016: £Nil) outstanding at 31st March 2017. Our investment manager, Julian Rathbone, is the brother of our Chair Mark 
Rathbone. The appointment of Rathbones Investment Management predates the appointment of our Chair.

During the year a donation of £4,101 (2016: £4,000) was received from Eleanor Rathbone Charitable Trust, a charity for which our Chair, 
Mark Rathbone, is on the board. There was £Nil (2016: £Nil) outstanding at 31st March 2017.

During the year £42 (2016: Nil) was paid to Bulky Bob’s Ltd, a subsidiary of FRC Group. There was £Nil (2016: £Nil) outstanding at 
31st March 2017.  Our chief executive is a member on the board of FRC Group.

10. Financial Commitments
The charitable company has financial commitments 
in respect of operating leases as follows:

Not later than one year      106,667  113,242   25,001  23,976 
Later than one year and not later than five years    15,500  40,025  17,829  39,960

        122,167  153,267    42,830  63,936

The charitable company has capital commitments at 31st March 2017 of £Nil (31st March 2016: £Nil) in respect of expenditure 
authorised by the Trustee.

2017 (£) 2016 (£)2017 (£) 2016 (£)
Land and Buildings Other
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